Effects of Ericoid Mycorrhizal Fungi on Growth and Salt Tolerance of Blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*), Lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*), and Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*): Implications for Oil Sands Reclamation

by

Sepideh Fadaei

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

In Land Reclamation and Remediation

Department of Renewable Resources University of Alberta

© Sepideh Fadaei, 2019

Abstract

Oil sands mining can have negative environmental impacts in the boreal forest region of northern Alberta, Canada. The Government of Alberta requires the companies to reclaim disturbed lands after mine sites are closed. The initial steps in oil sands mining operations involve the removal of forest vegetation and the topsoil, which is commonly stockpiled for several years. Stockpiling can have negative impact on the reclaimed oil sands soils through decreasing the composition and abundance of soil microorganisms and changing soil physical and chemical properties. Moreover, the presence of high concentration of dissolved Na⁺ and Cl⁻ in the soil can negatively affect plant growth in the reclamation areas. This thesis project consists of two research studies. In the first study, I examined the ericoid mycorrhizal fungi (ERM) colonization potential between fresh and one-year stockpiled topsoil from the oil sands reclamation site. I also examined effects of the topsoil on growth and physiological parameters in blueberry (Vaccinium myrtilloides), Labrador tea (Rhododendron groenlandicum) and lingonberry (Vaccinium vitis-idaea) plants. Using the DNA identification method, I found that ERM colonization potential of fresh topsoil is higher than that of the topsoil that was stockpiled for one year. My results also demonstrated that blueberry and Labrador tea plants growing in fresh topsoil had higher root and shoot dry weights and higher root colonization intensity compared to the stockpiled topsoil. Concentrations of leaf chlorophyll, P, and N in blueberry plants were also lower in the stockpiled topsoil compared to the fresh soils. Soil stockpiling did not affect net photosynthesis (Pn) and transpiration rates in any plant species. The results of this experiment indicate that the stockpiled soil was less suitable as a growth substrate compared with the fresh soils for the growth of some ericaceous plants.

In the second study, blueberry, Labrador tea and lingonberry plants were inoculated with *Oidiodendron maius* (Om) *and Meliniomyces variabilis* (Mv) ERM fungi and subjected to none (control) or 30 mM NaCl treatments for four weeks. In control blueberry and lingonberry, Pn was significantly higher in plants inoculated with *O. maius* compared with the non-inoculated plants. The 30 mM NaCl treatment decreased Pn and this decrease was greater in non-inoculated plants compared with those inoculated with both ERM fungi. In all three plant species, Pn of the non-inoculated plants subjected to NaCl treatment was reduced to negative values. Control blueberry plants that were inoculated with *O. maius* had higher total plant dry weights compared with non-inoculated plants. In Labrador tea, inoculation with *M. variabilis* resulted in the highest total plant dry weight reduction by the NaCl treatment. In all three plant species, both inoculation treatments resulted in higher leaf chlorophyll concentrations compared with non-inoculated plants. The overall effect of ERM inoculation on NaCl tolerance was especially pronounced in lingonberry.

The results of both studies point to the importance of ERM for the revegetation of oil sands reclamation sites with some ericaceous plants.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Janusz Zwiazek for his support, forethought and constructive criticism through the completion of my M.Sc as well as providing me with numerous learning opportunities and skill sets. I also would like to thank the members of my committee, Dr. Nadir Erbilgin and Dr. Scott Chang for their insightful comments and encouragement in the writing process of this thesis.

I would to thank NSERC (Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada), Canadian Natural Resources Ltd. and Imperial Oil Ltd. for funding this research.

My sincere thanks go to the Tree Physiology group, located at the Earth Science Building, University of Alberta for their amazing support throughout my research, including but not limited to Dr. Shanjida Khan for helping with molecular works, Dr. Alejandra Equiza for helping with physiology part, Dr. Seong Hee Lee, Dr. Wenqing Zhang, Dr. Deyu Mu who helped me during my M.Sc.

Finally, I must express my very profound gratitude to my husband Dr. Mostafa Serajchi and my parents for providing me with unfailing support and continuous encouragement throughout the years of my study and through the process of researching and writing this thesis. This accomplishment would not have been possible without them.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgments	iv
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
List of abbreviations	xii
Chapter 1	1
1.1 General Introduction	1
1.2 Literature Review	4
1.2.1 Biology of blueberry (Vaccinium myrtilloides)	4
1.2.2 Biology of lingonberry (Vaccinium vitis-idaea)	5
1.2.3 Biology of Labrador tea (Rhododendron groenlandicum)	6
1.2.4 Oil sands mining	7
1.2.5 Oil sands environment	8
1.2.6 Mycorrhizal fungi	9
1.2.7 Biology of ericoid mycorrhiza	9
1.2.8 Root system and mycorrhizal colonization in ericaceous plants	11
1.2.9 Phosphorus , nitrogen and other mineral nutrients in ericoid mycorrhizal assoc	ciations 12
1.2.10 Ericoid mycorrhizas and heavy metal resistance	16
1.2.11 Effects of ericoid mycorrhizal inoculation on plant growth	19
Chapter 2	
Study 1: Evaluation of Ericoid mycorrhizal fungi (ERM) colonization potential in fre stockpiled topsoil from the oil sands reclamation site	esh and 20
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Materials and methods	
2.2.1 Soil substrates	
2.2.2 Seedling preparation	
2.2.3 Experimental setup	
2.2.4 Shoot and root dry weights	
2.2.5 Leaf chlorophyll concentrations	
2.2.6 Net photosynthesis and transpiration	
2.2.7 Leaf elemental concentrations	
2.2.8 Elemental concentrations in soil samples	

	2.2.9 Soil pH and electrical conductivity (EC)	. 24
	2.2.10 Microscopy	. 25
	2.2.11 Extraction of genomic DNA and PCR amplification	. 26
	2.2.12 Molecular identification	. 28
	2.2.13 Species diversity and rarefaction curves	. 28
	2.2.14 Statistical analysis	. 28
	2.3 Results	. 29
	2.3.1 Root and shoot dry weights	. 29
	2.3.2 Chlorophyll concentration	. 31
	2.3.3 Net Photosynthesis (Pn) and transpiration (E)	. 33
	2.3.4 Elemental analysis of leaf tissues	. 34
	2.3.5 Soil analyses	. 38
	2.3.5.1 Soil pH and Electrical Conductivity	. 38
	2.3.5.2 Soil Elements	. 39
	2.3.6 Root fungal colonization	. 40
	2.3.7 DNA identification of ERM	. 44
	2.4 Discussion	. 49
(Chapter 3	. 57
	Study 2: Effects of ericoid mycorrhizal fungi on salt tolerance of ericaceous plant species	. 57
	3.1 Introduction	. 57
	3.2 Material and Methods	. 59
	3.2.1 Plant material and growth conditions	. 59
	3.2.2 Preparation of fungal inoculum	. 59
	3.2.3 Treatments	. 60
	3.2.4 Shoot and root dry weights	. 60
	3.2.5 Leaf chlorophyll concentrations	. 60
	3.2.6 Gas exchange	. 61
	3.2.7 Root fungal colonization	. 61
	3.2.8 Statistical analysis	. 62
	3.3 Results	. 63
	3.3.1 Root fungal colonization	. 63
	3.3.2 Gas Exchange	. 64
	3.3.3 Shoot and root dry weights	. 68

3.3.4 Leaf chlorophyll concentrations	74
3.4 Discussion	75
3.5 Synthesis	
3.6 Reclamation application and significance	
3.7 Suggestions for future research	80
References	
Chapter 4	
Appendix	

List of Tables

Table 2.1. pH, and electrical conductivity (EC) in the fresh topsoil, non-autoclaved	
stockpiled topsoil and autoclaved stockpiled topsoil (n= 5)	38
Table 1.2. Elemental concentrations in the fresh topsoil, non-autoclaved stockpiled	
topsoil and autoclaved stockpiled topsoil (n=5)	39
Table 2.2 Molecular identification of fungal species isolated from roots of Labrador tea	•
(Rhododendron groenlandicum) and blueberry (Vaccinium myrtilloides) were	
grown in fresh tonsoil non-autoclayed stockniled tonsoil and autoclayed one-year	
stockniled topsoil. Maximum identity was determined using BLASTn searches of	
nuclear ribosomal internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region	15
Table 2.1. Demonstration of most mysometrical colonization intensity in non-incovaleted	43
Table 5.1. Percentages of foot myconmizat colonization intensity in non-moculated	
seedlings of blueberry (Vaccinium myrtilloides), Labrador tea (Rhododendron	
groenlandicum), and lingonberry (Vaccinium vitis-idaea) and in seedlings	
inoculated with Oldiodendron maius and Meliniomyces variabilis subjected to 0	
and 30 mM NaCl. Different letters after means indicate significant differences (α	
= 0.05) between treatments within each plant species according to protected	
Fisher's LSD test. The values are means \pm SE of six seedlings per treatment	63
Table 5.1. ANOVA table showing the effect of different soil types on root dry weight,	
shoot dry weight and shoot:root dry weight for blueberry, Labrador Tea and	
lingonberry	99
Table 5.2. ANOVA table showing the effect of different soil types on Total Chlorophyll,	
Chlorophyll-a and Chlorophyll-b concentration for blueberry, Labrador Tea and	
lingonberry	99
Table 5.3. ANOVA table showing the effect of different soil types on Photosynthesis and	
transpiration of blueberry, Labrador Tea and lingonberry	99
Table 5.4. ANOVA table showing the effect of different soil types on Calcium (Ca),	
Potassium (K), Magnesium (Mg), Phosphorus (P), and Nitrogen (N) of blueberry,	
Labrador Tea and lingonberry.	100
Table 5. 5. ANOVA table for elemental concentrations : Calcium (Ca), Potassium (K),	
Magnesium (Mg), Phosphorus (P), Nitrogen (N), and Sodium (Na) in different	
soil types (Fresh Topsoil, Autoclayed One-Year Topsoil, and Non-Autoclayed	
One-Year Topsoil)	100
Table 5.6 ANOVA table for Photosynthesis and Transpiration and total chlorophyll of	100
inoculated and non-inoculated blueberry. I abrador tea, and lingonberry under salt	
treatments (0 mM & 30 mM NaCl)	101
Table 5.7 ANOVA table for Root dry weight Shoot dry weight	101
and Total dry weight of inoculated and non-inoculated hlueberry. Labradar too	
and inconherry under solt treatments (0 mM $\&$ 20 mM NaCl)	101
and migonocity under san deaunemis (V mivi & SV mivi NaCi)	101

List of Figures

- Figure 2.5. Leaf calcium (Ca, A) and Potassium (K, B) concentrations of blueberry (Vaccinium myrtilloides), Labrador tea (Rhododendron groenlandicum) and lingonberry (Vaccinium vitis-idaea) plants growing in fresh topsoil, autoclaved stockpiled topsoil and non-autoclaved stockpiled topsoil from oil sands reclamation areas. Different

- Figure 2.8. Percentage colonization of roots by ericoid mycorrhizal (ERM) fungi in blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*), Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) plants growing in fresh topsoil, autoclaved stockpiled topsoil and non-autoclaved stockpiled topsoil. Means (n = 6) with the same letter are not significantly different as determined by the protected Fisher's LSD test.

List of abbreviations

AMF	arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi
EMF	ectomycorrhizal fungi
ERM	ericoid mycorrhizal fungi
BLAST	basic local alignment sequence tool
CTAB	cetyltrimethyl ammonium bromide
ITS	internal transcribed sequence
LSD	least square difference
MBSU	molecular biology services unit
NCBI	National Centre for Biotechnology Information
Al	aluminium chemical element
Ca	calcium chemical element
Cl	chloride chemical element
cm	centimetre
CO ₂	carbon dioxide
Cu	copper chemical element
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
µS/cm	microsiemens per centimeter
Е	transpiration rate
EC	electric conductivity
Fe	iron chemical element
Κ	potassium chemical element
В	boron chemical element
Hg	mercury chemical element
km ₂	square kilometre
КОН	potassium hydroxide
m	meter
ANOVA	analysis of variance
mg	milligram

mg g ⁻¹	milligram per gram
Mg	magnesium chemical element
mL	milliliter
mM	millimolar
Mn	manganese chemical elements
Ν	nitrogen chemical element
Na	sodium chemical element
NaCl	sodium chloride
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
nm	nanometer
NO ₃ ⁻	nitrate ion
Р	phosphorus chemical element
pН	power of hydrogen
Pn	net photosynthesis rate
PO4 ³⁻	phosphate ion
PPFD	photosynthetic photon lux density
Zn	zinc chemical element
Ni	nickel chemical element
Co	cobalt chemical element
Cd	cadmium chemical element
Pb	Lead chemical element
W/V	weight/volume
$\mathrm{NH_4}^+$	ammonium
NH4 ⁺ -N	ammonium-nitrogen
CuSO ₄	copper sulphate
ZnSO ₄	zinc sulfate
H_2SO_4	Sulfuric acid

Chapter 1

1.1 General Introduction

The initial steps in oil sands mining operations involve the removal of forest vegetation and the soil, which is commonly stockpiled for one to ten years until all mining operation are completed. After finishing the oil sands mining operation, these stored soils are used to reclaim the disturbed areas and revegetate them with native plants. During stockpiling chemical and physical properties as well as microbial communities of the soil may be affected by different factors including the earthmoving equipment and anaerobic conditions (Strohmayer 1999). Since soil factors are crucial for plant growth, any changes in soil properties may have a significant impact on successful reestablishment of vegetation in reclaimed sites. The effect of stockpiling on soil mycorrhization potential has been identified among the key concerns for plant establishment and growth (Abdul-Kareem & McRae 1984; Strohmayer 1999).

Soil salinity is a common problem impacting plant growth and productivity across the world. Around 20% of cultivated and 33% of irrigated soils of the world are salt-affected (Shrivastava & Kumar 2015). Human activities including mining can discharge high salt contaminants in some areas, which may also increase and negatively affect growth of native plants. In oil sand mining areas, high concentrations of sodium, sulfate, bicarbonate, and chloride can be present in reclaimed areas (Renault et al. 1999).

Developing salt-tolerant plant species and increasing the adaptability of plants to saline environment have been an important research topic for many decades. However, until now, only a few major-determinant genetic traits of salt tolerance have been identified (Flowers 2004; Munns & Tester 2008; Schubert et al. 2009). Introducing soil microorganisms including mycorrhizal fungi is an economical and environmentally friendly approach to improve salt tolerance in many plant species (Dodd & Pérez-Alfocea 2012).

Mycorrhizal fungi are able to alleviate salt stress in their host plant species. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) and ectomycorrhizal fungi (EMF) are able to prevent the excess uptake of Na⁺ in plants under salinity condition (Muhsin & Zwiazek 2002; Hashem et al. 2015). However, a little is known about the effectiveness of the ericoid mycorrhizal fungi (ERM) in protecting the ericaceous plants against the effects of salt. Salt stress-induced changes in plants inoculated with AMF can be also reduced through the active role of these fungi in the antioxidant defense system of plants (Hashem et al. 2015).

Ericoid shrubs including *Vaccinium myrtilloides, Vaccinium vitis-idaea*, and *Rhododendron groenlandicum* can form symbioses with ERM (Read 1996; Smith & Read 2008). One of the most important benefits of ERM symbioses with ericaceous plants is increasing N uptake (Read & Stribley 1973). It has been reported that ERM may take up ammonium or nitrate or organic N compounds such as amino acids and peptides and turn them to the accessible form of N for their host plants (Mitchell & Gibson 2006).

In this thesis I examined the effects of topsoil (fresh vs. one-year stockpiled topsoil) from the boreal forest sites on three ericaceous plants species including *V.myrtilloides, V.vitis-idaea* and *R.groenlandicum* and also determined ericoid mycorrhizal colonization potential in these soil types. I also studied the effects of two ERM fungi *Oidiodendron maius* (Om) and *Meliniomyces variabilis* (Mv) on salt tolerance of the above ericaceous plant species, which are often used for oil sands reclamation. The objectives of the present study were to:

> Determine whether ericoid mycorrhizal colonization potential of the topsoil can be affected by stockpiling storage.

> > 2

- 2) Examine the effects of fresh topsoil and one-year stockpiled topsoil of boreal forest on growth and physiological responses (gas exchange, shoot and root dry weight, chlorophyll content, and plant leaf elements) three ericaceous plant species.
- Evaluate the effects of two ERM on growth and physiological responses of three different boreal forest plant species.
- 4) Investigate whether ERM fungi increase salt tolerance in some ericaceous plants.

I tested the following hypotheses:

- ERM colonization potential of the topsoil is decreased by stockpiling storage, probably due to the anaerobic conditions within the soil piles and/or mechanized handling during soil removing, stripping and stockpiling.
- 2) The growth of plants in fresh topsoil is higher than in the one-year stockpiled topsoil, likely due to the greater ERM fungi colonization of their roots.
- Inoculation of ericaceous plants with ERM fungi improves plant salt tolerance, probably by increasing nutrient and water uptake in these plant species.

1.2 Literature Review

1.2.1 Biology of blueberry (Vaccinium myrtilloides)

Blueberry is a perennial, deciduous or evergreen shrub that can grow up to approximately one m in height (Camp 1945). This rhizomatous plant can produce an extensive network of roots and woody rhizomes (Shubat 1983). The diameter of subsidiary roots can vary from 0.1-0.5 mm (Barker et al. 1964). Roots and rhizomes of this species have a long and tapering structure and can penetrate the soil as deep as one m (Hall 1957). Ovoid, brown and rugose blueberry seeds are approximately 1 mm in length. This shrub has thin velvet elliptic leaves, small and short clusters of greenish white to pink flowers at branch tips (Vander & Hall 1981). In some plants, the tap root is present and can reach a diameter of up to 10 mm (Hall 1957; Smith 1962). Velvety pilose branches (Shubat 1983), green or brown color twigs (Vander 1988), and dirty brown or green bark (Vander & Hall 1981) are other characteristic morphological features. Flowers of blueberries appear in terminal or lateral racemes (Vander & Hall 1981). Blueberry can adapt to a wide range of climatic conditions (Vander & Hall 1981), from dry to sub humid and temperate climates (Vander & Hall 1981; Klinka et al. 1989), and is found in most of Canada (Vander & Hall 1981). Acidic and infertile soils, which are poor in essential elements, can provide favorable growth conditions for many Vaccinium species (Korcak 1988). Blueberry can grow on various soil types including well-drained coarse, or light-textured soils and is commonly found in fine sandy soils, loam, clay loam, till, and lacustrine deposits (Jameson 1961; Corns 1983; Maillette 1988). Optimal pH range for these plants is from 3.0 to 5.9 (Hancock & Draper 1989; Jeglum 1971). Germination of *V. myrtilloides* seeds occurs sporadically (Vander 1983).

1.2.2 Biology of lingonberry (Vaccinium vitis-idaea)

Lingonberry is one of the *Vaccinium* species that typically grow in dense rhizomatous colonies (Vander 1988). This plant species is a creeping and evergreen shrub with slender stems (Hall & Shay 1981) and can grow to 15 cm in height (Robuck 1985). This rhizomatous plant can form a network of fine, shallow, fibrous roots, often without a taproot (Fernqvist 1977; Hall & Shay 1981). The maximum depth of the root system of 28 cm has been reported for this plant (Holloway 1981; Strong & LaRoi 1986). Plants have thick obovate, oblong, or elliptic leaves (Hall & Shay 1981; Robuck 1985). In this plant species, single or groups of up to 15 flowers appear on terminal racemes (Robuck 1985). The size of bright to dark red and round fruits of this lingonberry can reach nearly 10 mm in diameter (Keeler 1969; Vander 1988). Also, the length of yellow and short-beaked seeds of about 1mm has been reported (Holloway 1981; Vander 1988). The average germination of fresh seeds is higher than the seeds stored for 12 to 16 months, and this value can decline from 76 percent in fresh seeds to less than 10 percent in the stored seeds (Hall & Shay 1981). It has been demonstrated that exposure to the temperatures of 0-5°C for up to 5 months can improve the germination condition in this species (Lehmushovi 1975; Holloway 1981). Moreover, it has been reported that after exposure to the temperatures of 20-25°C, the seeds of this plant can germinate in 3 weeks both under light and dark conditions (Fernqvist 1977; Holloway 1981). Climatic conditions would not be a big constraint to the growth of this lingonberry, because the plants can grow under various climatic regimes. For example, in Canada, lingonberry can be found in the northern forests with arctic air masses or in the harsh rock field and tussock communities affected by moist Pacific air masses and they generally can grow in the regions with long cold winter (Larsen 1971; Hall & Shay 1981). The favorable soil conditions for the growth of this lingonberry can vary from shallow, and poor mineral soil to drained peat (Kardell 1986), and from acidic sandy loams to loamy clays (Holloway 1981; Kuchko 1988). Also, favorable soil for this

plant species can be formed from some parent materials like sandstone, gneiss, granite, and glacial outwash sands and gravel (Hall & Shay 1981). Furthermore, plants can grow in a wide range of pH between 2.7 and 8.2, however, the best growth has been reported at pH 4 to 4.9. (Jeglum 1971; Hall & Shay 1981; Holloway 1981).

1.2.3 Biology of Labrador tea (Rhododendron groenlandicum)

Labrador tea is a branched, dwarf, decumbent and ascending shrub that can grow between 30 to 60 cm in height. The dark green and linear leaves of this species are covered by a dense, rust-colored fluffy layer referred to as 'felt' (Porsild 1953; Aiken et al. 2003). This plant has white and strongly aromatic flowers in umbrella-shaped clusters (Porsild 1953). Labrador tea grows across North America in different places such as bogs, wet shores or even rocky alpine slopes. (Kathleen & Walter 1990). Since Labrador tea requires acidic soil for optimum growth in these areas, it can be found in moss-lichen heathlands (Porsild 1953). The plant is believed to have some medicinal properties and its leaves have been used as a substitute for tea (Aiken et al. 2003; Karst 2010).

1.2.4 Oil sands mining

Oil sands mining activities in Northern Alberta disturb boreal forests, which must be restored. Mining companies are responsible for reclaiming the disturbed areas, which may contain various oil sands processed materials including composite tailings and tailings sands on top of which reclamation soil is added. However, it has been reported that manipulations, stockpiling, and storage of reclamation soils can reduce its quality (Danielson et al. 1983; Malajczuck et al. 1994), through reductions in mycorrhizal inoculation potential, changing in physical and chemical properties of the soil (Abdul-Kareem & McRae 1984). Oil sands deposit is a natural mixture of sand, water, clay, and bitumen. Although oil sands are present in various parts of the world, the largest oil sands deposits are in Canada and Venezuela (Government of Alberta 2009b). Athabasca, Cold Lake and Peace River oil sands in Alberta, Canada contain 1.7 to 2.5 trillion barrels of oil trapped in the complex oil sand mixture that can provide all Canada's petroleum needs for the next 475 years (Chastko 2004).

In the Athabasca region, there are two techniques to obtain oil from the oil sands. The first technique can be used for 80% of oil sands recovery in the Athabasca oil sands region, which are 400 m below ground surface. In this process, the steam is injected into the reservoirs under the ground surface through chambers, the steam then heats up the viscous oil and the heated oil is pumped to the surface. The second technique is used when the deposits are close to the surface and is referred to as surface mining. In this process, overburden layer within a maximum depth of 45 m is removed and stockpiled near to the mining pit. This stockpiled topsoil and overburden are later re-used to fill the pit during reclamation. Afterwards, the mined ore is transported to the extraction plant where it is crushed, and hot water is added to extract bitumen. Finally, the slurry

undergoes centrifugal separation to separate sand, water and bituminous layer (Government of Alberta 2009b).

1.2.5 Oil sands environment

Boreal forest of an area of 346,964 km² in the Northern part of Alberta has three important oil sands reserves (Athabasca, Cold Lake and Peace River) (Canadian Boreal Initiatives 2003). This large intact ecosystem is the home for a diverse flora and fauna. Additionally, many natural processes like flood mitigation, carbon sequestration, nutrient cycling, water storage, etc. can be supplied by these forests (Leatherdale 2008). Many evergreen and deciduous tree species including white spruce (*Picea glauca*), black spruce (*Picea mariana*), aspen (*Populus tremuloides*), balsam poplar (Populus balsamifera), jack pine (Pinus banksiana), balsam fir (Abies balsamea), and tamarack (Larix laricina) constitute the vegetation cover of these boreal forests (Rowe 1972). Oil sands mining activities severely disturb the lands which must be reclaimed and re-vegetated, and this process must be certified by the Alberta Environment and Sustainable Resource Development. To attain high land capability, some important indicators including plant communities, soil salinity, nutrient cycling, water holding capacity, and net primary production must be certified (Rowland 2008). Reconstructing materials such as removed topsoil and subsoil is the most important step that must be done at the beginning of reclamation process. Typically mining residuals, like the peat-mineral mix, tailing sand, topsoil, subsoil, overburden, lean oil sand and mine by-products are mixed together and used as reclamation materials (Rowland 2008; Hrudey et al. 2010). These materials must have some capabilities, such as supplying water and nutrients for plants, adequate stability against erosion, helping to develop the root system, and buffering environmental changes (Rowland 2008). Among these reclamation materials, peat-mineral mix is the most the most commonly used substrate in this process due to its high abundance in the boreal

forest in Alberta and its ability to improve organic carbon content, soil nutrients, and water holding capacity (Rowland 2008; Rowland et al. 2009).

1.2.6 Mycorrhizal fungi

Mycorrhiza is a mutualistic relationship between specialized fungi and root system of many plant species around the world, which both benefit from each other. There are two general broad groups of mycorrhizal associations, ectotrophic and endotrophic mycorrhizas. The former is ectomycorrhiza and the latter group is divided into arbuscular, ericoid and orchidaceous mycorrhizas (Smith & Read 1997). Ectomycorrhizal fungi tend to colonize the roots of woody plant species and are characterized by an enveloping sheath of hyphae that surrounds their host plant rootlets. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi penetrate inside the cell walls of their host plant roots and form arbuscules (used for nutrient transfer) and vesicles (recognized as sites of lipid storage) within the roots (Danielson 1985). Most forest plants require mycorrhizal fungi to provide their nutritional requirements and service them under harsh environmental conditions. Due to the lack of photosynthetic pigments, fungi are heterotrophs (Isaac 1992). Mycorrhizal fungi can obtain their organic carbon from the host plant species and transfer some macronutrients such as P and N as well as micronutrients, such as Cu and Zn, to the host plants (Smith & Read 2008). It has been demonstrated that the presence of mycorrhizas can increase survival various plant species (Smith & Read 2008; Fortin et al. 2009).

1.2.7 Biology of ericoid mycorrhiza

The roots of ericaceous plant family can host different ericoid mycorrhizal fungal species (Midgley et al. 2004). It has been reported that the roots of one ericaceous plant alone can shelter more than ten fungal species (Midgley et al. 2004). Ericoid mycorrhizal fungi (ERM) are the only fungi that can be found in the root system of ericaceous plants. This plant family is large, with

4500 species within 125 genera and can be found mostly in acidic soils and areas with harsh and infertile growing conditions including arctic, temperate, and tropical regions (Luteyn 2002). Ericoid fungi form intracellular hyphal coils in epidermal cells of the fine hair roots of their host plant species (Read 1984). Also, ERM fungi produce extracellular enzymes which are able to break down simple and complex structures of organic matters and lead to improve nutrient mobilization in their host plants (Read et al. 2004). Ericoid mycorrhiza fungi can provide plants with NO₃-(Kosola et al. 2007), organic N (Sokolovski et al. 2002), organic and inorganic P (Myers & Leake 1996), and Fe (Shaw et al. 1990). Furthermore, ERM could boost plant tolerance of harsh environmental conditions and reduce accumulation of Al (Yang & Goulart 2000), Mn (Hashem 1995), and organic acids (Leake & Read 1991).

The location of this type of mycorrhizal association is confined to areas with lower nutrients where are either peaty or sandy, such as humus heathlands in the northern hemisphere, Mediterranean woodlands, tropical forests, the dry sand plains of Australia, and old copper mining sites of Ireland and the UK (Read 1983). In the study conducted in a south-eastern Australian sclerophyll forest in the roots of Ericaceae family, a vast range of various fungi were identified by DNA fingerprinting and isolated (Bougoure & Cairney 2005). This study demonstrated that populations of ERM may be more diverse than had been previously thought (Bougoure & Cairney 2005). As mentioned above, the growth of ericaceous plant species may be enhanced by ERM fungi, however, the effect of other factors such as the nutrient content of the soil, amount of precipitation, host variety, and fungal partner should not be overlooked (Bizabani et al. 2016).

1.2.8 Root system and mycorrhizal colonization in ericaceous plants

Mycorrhizal associations enable plants to survive under harsh environmental conditions. Balloon-shaped, almost empty, epidermal cells in ericoid roots are essential to host the mycorrhizal fungi (Bonfante-Fasolo et al. 1981; Read 1983). Plant roots can be absorptive or conductive, and the roots within the same category have identical function and nature (McKenzie & Peterson 1995; Eissenstat & Achor 1999; McCully 1999; Hishi 2007; Guo et al. 2008). Moreover, many studies have indicated that among three main factors, including transport capacity, root aging and radial growth, there is a continuous connection, which leads to the increased number of xylem vessels (Steudle & Peterson 1998; Kumar et al. 2007). The root morphology of plants that have been colonized with ericoid mycorrhizal fungi may be changed due to the auxins production by ERM fungi (Berta et al. 1988). The first phase of connection between the ericoid mycorrhizal fungus and plant root to create an ericoid mycorrhizal association is through cellulose microfibrils in the cell wall. In ericoid mycorrhizae colonization, there are dense coils inside the cells of the outermost root layer and also external mycelium can be developed from the surface of plant hair roots. Both the lengths of these mycelium and the lifespan of ericoid mycorrhizal associations are very short, no more than 1 cm and 11 weeks respectively (Mitchell & Gibson 2006). Epidermal cells of hair roots of the ericaceous plant species include some fungi which produce dark and slow growing sterile and dematiaceous mycelia in agar cultures (Read 1996).

Some of mycorrhizal fungi can make zigzag chains of arthroconidia in culture (Burgeff 1961; Pearson & Read 1973) which belong to the genus *Scytalidium* (Dalpe et al. 1989). Another specific feature identified for some of these fungi which isolated from Ericaceae is that they can produce *apothecia* which has enabled them to be identified as the *ascomycete Hymenoscyphus ericae* (Read 1974). Comparisons between ribosomal DNA sequences of an isolate of *Vaccinium* identified two different types of fungi including *Scytalidium accinii* and *H. ericae* and suggested

that between there is an anamorph-teleomorph relationship between these two fungi (Egger & Sigler 1993).

Some evidence has been obtained from light (Reed 1989; Hutton et al. 1994) and electron (Allen et al. 1989) microscope studies showing that the hair roots of family *Epacridaceae* have fungal isolates which could immediately and easily make typical root ericoid mycorrhiza in the hair roots of Ericaceae, and vice versa (Reed 1989). Other studies based on pectic zymogram have shown that fungal isolates of some of Western Australian epacrids did not produce banding patterns which perfectly match those of ericaceous isolates. (Hutton et al. 1994). Some studies have suggested that *Oidiodendron* spp. are other fungal isolates that could be obtained from mycorrhizal hair roots of ericaceous species. (Burgeff 1961; Couture et al. 1983; Dalpe 1986; Douglas et al. 1989; Xiao & Berch 1992).

1.2.9 Phosphorus, nitrogen and other mineral nutrients in ericoid mycorrhizal associations

Some mycorrhizal fungi such as *H.ericae* have a grate significance in sandy heathland soils of warmer regions (Read 1996). The existence of this type of fungus in such soils can be led to many improvements in plants growth. For instance, this fungus can assimilate NO_3^- , NH_4^+ (Bajwa & Read 1986), and PO_4^{-3} (Pearson & Read 1975) ions.

Nitrification is one of the important steps in the N cycle and can happen in any type of soil but may be faster or slower depending on the soil type (Hannon 1956), and because of the very low amount of NO_3^- , the ability of ericaceous (Havill et al. 1974) and epacridaceous (Stewart et al. 1993) plants themselves to access nitrate is very low. Therefore, access to the NO_3^- ion may be largely dependent upon mycorrhizal colonization.

Many studies have reported the role of ericoid mycorrhizal fungi in N uptake. For instance, according to (Bajwa et al. 1985), protease is secreted by ERM fungi which help their host plants

to obtain N from protein in meal-based fertilizers. Other studies which have been carried out to examine the role of ERM fungi in N assimilation, suggested that these fungi allow ericaceous plants to draw out their required N from organic pools (Yang et al. 2002; Walker et al. 2010). The slow decomposition rates in areas with acidic soils reduce the amount of inorganic N sources and limit the access of plants to N (Straker 1996). As mentioned above, ERM can form associations with ericaceous plants species such as blueberry, lingonberry, and Labrador tea, and provide various sources of N for these plants. In the study conducted with lingonberry plants, both mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal cranberries were grown in the soil amended with ¹⁵N ammonium sulphate. The results of this study demonstrated that non-mycorrhizal plants utilized NH₄⁺-N, but mycorrhizal plants had access to other N sources within the soil as NH_4^+ -N. Moreover, the results of the study by (Stribley & Read 1974) indicated that ericoid mycorrhizal fungi provided accessible organic N for their host plants. Also, in this experiment both mycorrhizal and nonmycorrhizal lingonberry plants were grown in sand amended with nutrients containing a range of amino acids. The data obtained in this study have shown that mycorrhizal plants had higher growth rates and total N contents than non-mycorrhizal plants (Stribley & Read 1980). Another N source for ericoid mycorrhizal fungi is a range of proteins (Bajwa & Read 1985) as well as chitin (Leake & Read 1990b; Kerley 1993). The presence of carbon in the growth medium of fungi can affect the assimilation of glutamine, NH₄⁺, or NO₃⁻ by ERM fungi (Grelet et al. 2005). Some ERM are able to release enzymes in order to gain their essential N by degrading complex N compounds. For instance, active polyphenol oxidases can be produced by ERM to detach organic N from recalcitrant compounds (Bending & Read 1996). Moreover, extra-cellular proteinase enzyme carboxyl (acid) proteinase can be secreted by ERM fungi to break down proteins to amino acids (Leake & Read 1989). According to Lake and Read's investigations, the above enzyme is active

at very low pH values, even lower than the pH of acidic soils (Leake & Read 1990a). Soil/litter interface is a part of soil that ericaceous plants are able to penetrate their mycorrhizal roots. As a result of H⁺-releasing processes in this interface, pH value of this region is mostly lower than that of bulk soil (Read et al. 1989). A study conducted to examine proteinase activity in mycorrhizal fungi (Leake & Read 1990a) reported that the function of some enzymes such as proteinase can be adjusted by a strategy known as 'Noah's Ark'. According to this strategy, low amounts of proteinase enzyme can be released by mycorrhizal fungi (Leake & Read 1990c), however, an abundant release of proteinase could occur when end products known as 'reporter' molecules are identified by H. ericae, and when fungi access appropriate substrate in the soil. (Leake & Read 1990c). Ericoid mycorrhizal fungi are capable of taking up end products which, in this case, are amino acids, without removing an amino group. These forms of N would be transferred easily from the fungi to their host plants (Mitchell & Gibson 2006). On the other hand, in acidic soils, the P sources including inorganic phosphate, phosphomonoesters, phytates, and nucleic acids either are in low amounts or are less available to plants (Cosgrove 1967; Griffiths & Caldwell 1992), but ERM enable their host plants to access these P sources (Mitchell & Read 1981). For example, phosphodiesters are among the most important and valuable sources of soil P, however, their concentration is low in many soils especially in acidic ones (Griffiths & Caldwell 1992). According to the study conducted by (Leake & Miles 1996), ERM fungi can produce and release both extra-cellular and wall-bound phosphodiesterase enzymes to use phosphodiester DNA.

In addition to N and P assimilation in ericoid mycorrhizal associations, other vital elements can be up taken up and transferred by some fungi to their host plants (Mitchell & Gibson 2006). For instance, *H.ericae* is an ERM, which is able to create a strong affinity with Fe at all concentration levels (Mitchell & Gibson 2006). Therefore, this fungus can assist its host plant in absorbing Fe due to this trait (Shaw & Read 1989). Schuler and Haselwandter (1988) declared that this characteristic of ERM could be due to the release of Fe-specific siderophores. Moreover, some investigators have suggested that *H.ericae* fungus can have more affinities with other essential and non-essential elements (Bradley et al. 1981, 1982; Denny & Ridge 1995) including Zn, Cu (Gibson & Mitchell 2005a), Al, and Mn (Marschner 1995). Burt et al. (1986) reported that one reason for the ability of ERM to uptake metals can be due to environmental conditions where they are found, because the majority of these fungi can survive in acidic soils containing high levels of Fe, Al and Mn (Marschner 1995).

Research has been conducted to evaluate the influence of two different fertilizers (organic and inorganic) on the nutrient uptake of blueberries inoculated with three different isolates of ericoid mycorrhizal fungi (Scagel 2005). The results demonstrated that total levels of all nutrients in plants inoculated with *O. griseum* and *P. ericae* isolates were higher in comparison to non-inoculated plants when they were supplied with inorganic fertilizer. In plants inoculated with *O. griseum* and *P. ericae* isolates and fertilized with different amounts of organic fertilizers, the uptake of all nutrients except Ca, Zn, and fluorine was enhanced (Scagel 2005). The effect of inoculation of blueberry plants with *H. ericae* on their nutrient uptake varied with fertilizer types. Inorganic fertilizers acted as a barrier in the uptake of N, K, Mn and B in plants inoculated with *H. ericae* and in organic fertilizers, the total level of N, K, Mn and B was higher in mycorrhizal, compared with nonmycorrhizal, plants. In contrast, plants inoculated with *H. ericae* absorbed more Ca and Zn from the inorganic compared with organic fertilizers (Scagel 2005).

1.2.10 Ericoid mycorrhizas and heavy metal resistance

Toxic metal pollution due to geochemical and man-made activities is a big problem in today's world (Leyval et al. 1997). Although the concentrations of toxic metals from the geochemical origin can be high and generate some environmental concerns (Jeng & Bergseth 1992), human activities including burning of fossil fuels, mining and smelting of metalliferous ores, municipal wastes, fertilizers, pesticides, sewage sludge amendments, and use of pigments and batteries pose more threat to the environment and human health (Adriano 1986). Leyval et al. (1997) suggested that the more correct name for these toxic metals should be trace, rather than heavy metals, because the former represents the concentration in soil (<0.1%) and biological materials (100 mg kg⁻¹). High soluble concentrations of metals such as Al, Fe, and Mn in the soil indicates high acidity status of the soil (Cairney & Meharg 2003). Although metals such as Fe, Zn, Cu, Mn, Ni, Co (Marschner 1995) are essential for plant growth, other metals including Cd, Pb, and Hg have no beneficial impact on plant growth (Leyval et al. 1997).

As mentioned above, elevated concentrations of heavy metal can have detrimental effects on all organisms including soil micro-organisms. In metal-contaminated places, mycorrhizal associations become especially important for plant survival (Meharg & Cairney 2000). It has been suggested that physiological processes in ERM can adapt to toxic and metal-contaminated environments. Moreover, these fungi are able to transfer their Cu resistance to their host ericaceous plants, which allows these plant species to survive in copper-contaminated sites (Bradley et al. 1981). Some of the important processes contributing to metal tolerance in ERM include the production of enzymes that are resistant to metal inactivation, proteins which are able to detoxify potentially toxic metals, and increased resistance of cell membranes to reactive oxygen species (Meharg & Cairney 2000). Mycorrhizal fungi are the best way to make a connection between soil and the roots of different plants and, therefore, can play a key role in transferring toxic and heavy metals to plants (Leyval et al. 1997). However, mycorrhizal fungi can also protect their host plants against heavy metals through either metal "avoidance" or "tolerance" processes. The avoidance processes can happen when fungi reduce the amount of metal uptake or increase efflux, and either create complexes with metals outside of the cells or release organic acids to help with metal avoidance. Organic acids such as oxalic, succinic and citric acid were reported to remove Cu and Zn from contaminated soils (Kim et al. 2013). The tolerance processes occur when fungi can tolerate the presence of high metal levels and make some metal-chelating compounds through the synthesis of ligands such as metallothioneins, polyphosphates, and/or compartmentation within vacuoles (Turnau et al. 1996b).

On the one hand, the vast majority of research indicates that the existence of mycorrhizal colonization can assist in enhancing the nutrient absorption of ericaceous plants in environments with the lack of nutrients. On the other hand, this quality can lead to some physiological impairment for plants growing in soils with high levels of toxic elements (Read 1982). Although, increased levels of metals such as Al and Cu can be toxic for non-ericaceous plants, ericaceous plants are the predominant species in soils containing high levels of metals (Read 1982). Several studies revealed that some plants including *Calluna* sp. (Marrs & Bannister 1978; Oxbrow & Moffatt 1979), *Vaccinium* sp., and *Gaultheria* sp. (Freedman & Hutchinson 1980) could be found as the sole plant species in soils contaminated by copper- and zinc-mining activities in Europe and in soils contaminated by smelting in Canada. Furthermore, several studies showed that ectomycorrhizal colonization may have a fundamental role in providing resistance to heavy metals (Read 1982). For instance, Bradley et al. (1981, 1982) conducted a study with *Calluna vulgaris*,

Vaccinium macrocarpon, and Rhododendron ponticum to examine the effect of ectomycorrhizal colonization on heavy metal resistance. Plants were planted in sand with different concentrations of CuSO₄ and ZnSO₄. The results demonstrated that the non-mycorrhizal plants in all three species at all treatment levels did not grow or show very little growth and high plant mortality was observed at the higher concentration treatments. In mycorrhizal plants, a decrease in growth occurred only at the highest treatment concentrations. Moreover, after measuring the amounts of Cu and Zn in plant shoots, it was concluded that the ratio of metal concentration was much lower in mycorrhizal compared with non-mycorrhizal plants (Read 1982). Depending on the type of host plant and ERM, various mechanisms can be utilized to protect plants in toxic soils (Mitchell & Gibson 2006). One of the proposed hypotheses is that this resistance process may be due to an exclusion mechanism operating at the mycorrhizal root surface, which protects both the plant and the fungus (Mitchell & Gibson 2006). Mucilaginous slime produced by fungal hyphae at the mycorrhizal root surface can play a role in the exclusion mechanism to limit the movement of metal ions (Denny & Ridge 1995). Furthermore, some of ERM fungi are able to protect their host plants against organic arsenic compounds (Mitchell & Gibson 2006). The study conducted to examine the mechanism of arsenate resistance in one of the ERM demonstrated that C.vulgaris plants were able to survive on arsenate sites when colonized by *H. ericae* (Sharples et al. 2001). Due to some similarities between arsenate and phosphate, fungus can carry this toxic element across the plasma membrane through the phosphate co-transporter system (Meharg & Macnair 1992). In addition, this arsenate-resistant ERM fungus, has an ability to transform the accumulated and stored arsenate to arsenite, which can be removed from the fungal mycelium without any interference with phosphate transfer (Sharples et al. 2000a.b, 2001).

1.2.11 Effects of ericoid mycorrhizal inoculation on plant growth

Mycorrhizal fungi are able to increase plant growth through associating their hyphae with their host plant roots by providing nutrients for root tissues. Increased surface area of the root by mycorrhizal fungi can cause higher nutrient uptake. Mycorrhizal fungi are considered as biofertilizers and are able to provide required nutrients for the host plants (Hodge et al. 2010; Miransari 2010; Smith & Smith 2011; Nadeem et al. 2014; Vafadar et al. 2014). The symbiosis of ERM with the roots of ericaceous plants can facilitate the exchange of nutrients (Rice & Currah 2006) and protect their host plants against heavy metal toxicity (Daghino et al. 2016).

Nitrogen uptake in plants can occur through either nitrate or ammonium. Lingonberry (*V.macrocarpon*) is not able to absorb NO₃⁻ as a sole source of N in hydroponic culture (Rosen et al. 1990; Smith 1993), as this plant has adapted to acid soils (pH from 4 to 5) and in this range of pH, the nitrification is minimal (Paul & Clark 1989). (Kosola et al. 2007) found that cranberries inoculated with the fungus *Rhizoscyphus ericae* can absorb NO₃- compared to non-inoculated cranberries. In another study, blueberry (*V. corymbosum* L.) cultivars inoculated with ERM had higher N concentrations and growth rates compared with non-inoculated ones (Scagel 2005). Also, ERM were able to enhance N uptake in *Rhododendron fortunei* plants (Yin et al. 2010).

Several studies reported that the growth of plants was reduced in autoclaved peat which prevented mycorrhizal development (Bain 1937; Burgeff 1961). However, it is not certain if this effect can be only attributed to mycorrhizal fungi, since other organisms in the peat including saprophytic fungi may be also able to alleviate the toxicity of soil compounds such as heavy metals. According to Stribley et al. (1975), the most appropriate sterilization treatment for soils is gamma irradiation which makes soils completely free of living organisms including bacteria, fungi, algae, nematodes, fungal endophytes etc., and does not change soil chemistry.

Chapter 2

Study 1: Evaluation of Ericoid mycorrhizal fungi (ERM) colonization potential in fresh and stockpiled topsoil from the oil sands reclamation site

2.1 Introduction

During oil sands mining operations, the topsoil (A horizon) is removed and stockpiled in small or large piles for the duration of the mining project. The subsoil layer (B horizon), which is also removed and stored separately. When the mining operation is complete, overburden material is reapplied and then topsoil is spread over the overburden material before site revegetation (Strohmayer 1999).

Many physical and chemical changes can occur in the stockpiled soils as a result of mechanized handling during stripping and stockpiling the soil and during storage. These changes can include increased bulk density, decreased microbial activity, reduced nutrient cycling, and decreased water holding capacity (Strohmayer 1999). Anaerobic conditions increase with the increasing depth of piles over time and are more severe in fine textured soils (Abul-Kareem & McRae 1984). One of the most important adverse effects of prolonged soil stockpiling is a reduction in microbial diversity, which can lead to an unbalanced soil ecosystem (Fresquez & Aldon 1984).

Since the beneficial soil microorganisms such as N fixing bacteria and mycorrhizal fungi are essential for plant survival and growth (Van der Heijden et al. 2008), a reduction in microbial diversity of the soil may be detrimental to revegetation efforts. Soil fungal communities, especially mycorrhizal fungi, can assist their host plant species with nutrient and water uptake (Guiñazú et al. 2010), improve resistance to abiotic stress (Selvakumar et al. 2012), and increase photosynthetic capacity (Xie et al. 2009). Ericoid mycorrhizal (ERM) fungi specifically form symbiotic associations with roots of plants in the family Ericaceae (Perotto et al. 2012). These mycorrhizal fungi can improve N uptake in ericaceous plants (Bucking & Kafle 2015), also protect their host plants against heavy metal toxicity (Daghino et al. 2016). Therefore, it is important to understand how stockpiling can affect the microbial compositions of the soil.

The Ericaceae have a nearly worldwide distribution and can be found as understory plants in the boreal forests (Stevens 2004). The growth of these plants in reclamation sites is severely impacted by the soil factors, however they can successfully colonize poor nutrient and acidic soils with ERM fungi (Bradley et al. 1982).

In this study, I compared the diversity of ericoid mycorrhizal fungi of the fresh topsoil collected from the boreal forest site near Fort McMurray, Alberta, Canada with the soil that was stockpiled for one year. Three ericaceous plant species including blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*), Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*), and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) were grown in both types of soil to examine the effects of stockpiling on growth and physiological parameters. I hypothesised that fresh topsoil would have a greater ericoid mycorrhizal colonization potential compared to the one-year stockpiled topsoil, which would benefit plant growth.

2.2 Materials and methods

2.2.1 Soil substrates

The studied substrates included topsoil (LFH, approximately top 30 cm from the soil surface) of the boreal forest site near the oil sands mining areas of the Canadian Natural Resources Limited (CNRL) Horizon lease, north of Fort McMurray, Alberta, Canada (56° 43' 35.94" N, 111° 22' 44.1732" W). The soil was collected in the late spring of 2016 and stockpiled for one year on

the site (one-year stockpiled soil). In the spring of 2017, LFH soil from the same area was collected as the fresh soil. After delivering to the University of Alberta, all large debris were removed from both types of soils, and a half of the one-year stockpiled topsoil was autoclaved at 121°C for 1 h in order to remove all mycorrhizal fungi and contamination. In total, three soil types were used in this study including the non-autoclaved fresh topsoil, non-autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil, and autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil.

2.2.2 Seedling preparation

Seeds of blueberry (*V.myrtilloides*), lingonberry (*V.vitis-idaea*) and Labrador tea (*R.groenlandicum*) plants were collected from the boreal forest sites in the vicinity of the oil sands mining areas near Fort McMurray, Alberta, in the summer of 2015. The seeds were stored in airtight plastic bottles at 4°C. The seeds were surface-sterilized with sodium hypochlorite 20% for 2 min, followed by ethanol 70% for 5 min, and rinsed with autoclaved distilled water. The sterilized seeds were placed on the solid Murashige and Skoog medium (MS) (pH 5.7) (Murashige & Skoog 1962) in Petri dishes to germinate. The Petri dishes were sealed with parafilm, kept at 4°C for 48 h, and then transferred to the growth chamber until germination. Environmental conditions in the growth chamber were 22/18°C (day/night) temperature and 16-h photoperiod.

2.2.3 Experimental setup

The germinants were transferred from Petri dishes to nine Styrofoam blocks with 45 cells (each cell 450 ml in volume, three blocks for each soil treatment). Fifteen plants of each species were planted in each container (three replicates per treatment). All plants were watered (water pH adjusted to 5.5 with H₂SO₄) every day and fertilized with N₂₀-P₂₀-K₂₀ commercial fertilizer every two weeks. The seedlings were grown for seven months before harvesting. The experiment was conducted in the greenhouse at the University of Alberta. Environmental conditions in the

greenhouse were maintained at 24/19°C (day/night) temperature, 65±10% relative humidity (RH) and 16-h photoperiod with natural light supplemented by the full-spectrum Philips fluorescent bulbs. (Philips high output, F96T8/TL835/HO, Markham, ON, Canada).

2.2.4 Shoot and root dry weights

Shoot and root dry weights were determined for nine seedlings from each species and each soil treatment. After harvesting all plants, shoots and roots were separated and dried in an oven at 65°C for 72 h.

2.2.5 Leaf chlorophyll concentrations

Leaf chlorophyll-a and chlorophyll-b concentrations were determined in fully-expanded leaves in in the mid-part of the shoot in nine randomly selected seedlings from each treatment and each species. The leaves were dried in a freeze-drier (LABCONCO FREEZE DRY LYPH.LOCK 4.5, Kansas, USA) for 72 h and then immediately ground with a Thomas Wiley Mini-Mill (Thomas Scientific, NJ, USA). Chlorophyll was extracted from 10 mg dry weight of grinded leaf samples with 8 ml dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) at 65°C for 22 h. After filtering, chlorophyll concentrations were measured in the DMSO extracts with a spectrophotometer (Ultrospec, Pharmacia LKB, Uppsala, Sweden), at 648 nm and 665 nm for chlorophyll-a and chlorophyll-b concentrations, respectively. The Arnon's equation (Sestak et al. 1971) was used to calculate the total chlorophyll concentration.

2.2.6 Net photosynthesis and transpiration

The measurements of gas exchange were carried out in nine seedlings of each plant species and soil type after seven months of growth. Net photosynthesis (Pn) and transpiration (E) rates were measured in the upper, fully developed leaves using the infrared gas analyzer (LI-6400, LI-
COR, Lincoln, Nebraska USA) at 400 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ PPFD. For the blueberry and Labrador tea, one leaf of each plant was inserted in the leaf chamber, while, for cranberries, between four to ten leaves were inserted in the chamber. Following the measurements, the leaves were detached, and the leaf areas were determined following computer scanning using the Sigmascan Pro 5.0 computer software (Systat Software, San Jose, CA).

2.2.7 Leaf elemental concentrations

Quantitative elemental analyses were carried out on the remaining leaves of the studied plants. Nine plants of each species from each soil treatment were used to measure leaf elemental concentrations. The leaves were oven-dried at 65°C for three days and ground with the Thomas Wiley Mini-Mill (Thomas Scientific, NJ, USA) grinder. Extraction of Ca, K, Mg, and P concentrations were determined by the Inductivity Coupled Plasma-Optical Emission Spectroscopy (ICP-OES) (iCAP6300, Thermo Fisher Corp, United Kingdom). Total N was analyzed by the dry combustion method using the Flash 2000 Organic Elemental Analyzer (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Bremen, Germany 2016). All measurements were conducted in the Natural Resources Analytical Laboratory of the University of Alberta, Canada).

2.2.8 Elemental concentrations in soil samples

Concentrations of Ca, K, Mg, P, Na, and N were determined in five soil samples from each treatment (fresh topsoil, autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil, and non-autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil) as described above for the leaves.

2.2.9 Soil pH and electrical conductivity (EC)

Five soil samples of each treatment were air-dried in aluminium trays at the room temperature for two weeks. Soil pH and EC were determined in saturated pastes in the Natural Resources Analytical Laboratory. Soils were brought to their water saturation level by gradual addition of water and then vacuum filtered.

2.2.10 Microscopy

To examine the root colonization intensity, six seedlings per treatment were randomly selected from the same three plant species. After harvesting the plants, their roots were excised, wrapped in aluminum foil and kept on ice, until they were delivered to the laboratory. The root tips were approximately 20 cm long and fixed in (formaldehyde (10 ml): glacial acetic acid (5 ml): ethanol (50 ml): distilled water (35 ml). Prior to microscopy, the roots were rinsed twice with distilled water and then cleared in potassium hydroxide 2.5% KOH at 60°C for 1 h. After removing from the oven, the roots were washed twice with distilled water and commercial vinegar. The root samples were stained in the ink (5%) plus commercial vinegar at 60°C for 20 min. The stained roots were rinsed with distilled water, cut in to 12 fragments (each approximately 1-cm long), mounted on microscope slides and observed under the light microscope. All root pieces were rated from 0 to 5 (Fig.2.1) according to the extent of colonization by ericoid mycorrhizal fungi (Trouvelot et al. 1986). Finally, the intensity of mycorrhizal colonization in the root system (M) was calculated using the following equation:

M% = (95n5+70n4+30n3+5n2+n1)/(n total)

where n5=number of root fragments rated 5, n4=number of root fragments rated 4, n3=number of root fragments rated 3, n2=number of root fragments rated 2, n1=number of root fragments rated , n total=total number of root fragments



Figure 2.1. Scoring mycorrhizal colonization method to quantify ericoid mycorrhizal fungi in the roots of ericaceous plant species. In rate number 5 more than 90 % of root fragment, in rate number 4 between 50 to 90 % of root fragment, in rate number 3 between 10 to 50 % of root fragment, in rate number 2 between 1 to 10 % of root fragment, in rate number 1 lower than 1 % of root fragment colonized by ERM fungi.

2.2.11 Extraction of genomic DNA and PCR amplification

Six root samples per treatment from all three plant species were selected to extract genomic DNA. After harvesting plants in the greenhouse, the roots were excised, wrapped in aluminum foil and kept on ice before delivering to the laboratory. The roots were kept in the freezer at -80°C before DNA extraction. For DNA extraction, the roots were flash frozen in liquid N and ground in an autoclaved porcelain mortar. Approximately 150 mg of each root sample was placed in a 2 ml micro-centrifuge tube. After thawing in 1 ml lysis buffer (2% w/v cetyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB) (Saghai-Maroof et al. 1984), 1.42 M NaCl, 20 mM EDTA (0.5 M), 100 mM Tris-HCL (pH 8.0), 2% PVP-40, 1% v/v 2-mercaptoethanol), the samples were incubated in a water bath at 60°C for 1 h. About 1 mL of chloroform:isoamyl alcohol (24:1 v/v) was added to each sample followed by centrifugation at 14,000 rpm (16,700 g) for 10 min. The supernatants

were transferred to 2 mL centrifuge tubes and again purified with 500 µl of chloroform:isoamyl alcohol (24:1 v/v). After centrifugation, DNA was precipitated with isopropanol at -20°C, for 15 min) and the pellet was rinsed with 70% ethanol and centrifuged. DNA was suspended in 30 μ l of 1XTE buffer and its concentration determined with the Thermo Scientific[™] NanoDrop[™] One Microvolume UV-Vis Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). For PCR amplification, all extracted DNA samples were diluted to 100 ng/ μ L. One μ L of diluted DNA sample was combined with 24 µL of Master Mix buffer. Master Mix buffer contains all the components for PCR mix to occur; including internal transcribed spacer (ITS1 and ITS4) (1.25 µL), Tag DNA polymerase, dNTPs, MgCl2, 10x pcr Reaction and Nuclease-Free water) the individual building blocks of DNA (nucleotides, or dNTP's), a special buffer to maintain optimum pH, salts, and MgCl₂. Amplifications were performed with an initial denaturation at 95°C for 2 min, followed by 30 cycles at 94°C for 30 s, 57°C for 30 s, and 72°C for 1 min, with the final extension of 72°C for 10 min. All PCR products were visualized on a 1% agarose gel. Successfully amplified PCR products were purified using the Wizard@ SV Gel and PCR Clean-up System kit following the manufacturer's protocol (Promega, Madison, USA). The positive bands were excised and were subjected to sequencing using an IST1. The manufacturer's BigDye terminator cycle sequencing reagent, and an AB13730 sequencer (Applied Biosystem) were used for sequencing experiments.

2.2.12 Molecular identification

Six plants from each experimental group were included in the analyses. Roots of each experimental plant were pulverized, and DNA was extracted using the cetyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB) method (Allen et al. 2003). Subsequent PCR reactions were performed using fungal specific ITS1F (Allen et al. 1993) and ITS4 (White et al. 1990) primers. Thermocycling conditions were as follows: 95°C for 2 min; 33 cycles of 95 °C for 30 sec., 56 °C for 30 sec, 72 °C for 1 min, and final elongation for 10 min at 72 °C. PCR products were purified using the GeneJET PCR Purification Kit (Thermofisher, Crawley, UK), and cloned into the pCR2.1-TOPO vector (Invitrogen, Paisley, UK). From each experimental group, 25-30 white colonies were selected and stored. Colonies were amplified by PCR using M13 sequencing primers. Sequencing of 20-30 clones per experimental group was performed using the Sanger DNA Sequencing (MBSU, University of Alberta). Molecular identification of isolated fungi was conducted using BLASTn searches of the ITS region at the NCBI website (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov).

2.2.13 Species diversity and rarefaction curves

Species diversity curve and rarefaction curves (expected number of species) were generated using nonlinear regression (Hyperbola, single rectangular (y=ax/b+x) in SigmaPlot 11.0 (Systat Software Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The cumulative number of fungal species (y-axis) is plotted as a function of the cumulative number of samples (upper x-axis), pooled in random order.

2.2.14 Statistical analysis

All data were analyzed using SAS GLM model (Version 9.2, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC) to determine statistically significant ($p \le 0.05$) differences between treatments. For this experiment one-way ANOVA was used with soil type as the main factor. The data that did not meet the ANOVA assumptions of normality of distribution and homogeneity of variance were transformed

with a log10 function. Comparisons between different treatment means were conducted using protected Fisher's LSD test. A representative table of the ANOVA results is shown in the Appendix section.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Root and shoot dry weights

Blueberry plants in fresh topsoil had about two-fold higher root and shoot dry weights compared with the plants growing in the non-autoclaved soil stockpiled for one year (Fig.2.2A, B). Shoot dry weights and shoot:root dry weight ratios of blueberry plants in the autoclaved topsoil that was stockpiled for one year were lower compared with the plants growing in fresh topsoil (Fig.2.2B,C). However, root dry weights of blueberries in the autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil were significantly higher compared with the non-autoclaved stockpiled topsoil and were similar to those of plants growing in fresh topsoil (Fig.2.2A).

In Labrador tea plants, root and shoot dry weights were significantly higher in fresh and one-year stockpiled topsoil treatments in comparison to the non-autoclaved stockpiled topsoil treatment (Fig.2.2A,B). There was no effect of the soil type on shoot: root dry weight rations in Labrador tea (Fig.2.2C).

Total root dry weights of lingonberry plants in the autoclaved stockpiled topsoil treatment were higher compared with the other two soil types (Fig.2.2A). However, shoot dry weights (Fig.2.2B) and shoot:root ratios (Fig.2.2C) were higher in the non-autoclaved stockpiled soil compared with fresh topsoil.



Figure 2.2. Root dry weights (A), shoot dry weights (B), and shoot:root dry weight ratios (C) in blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*), Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) plants growing in the fresh topsoil, autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil, and non-autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil from the oil sands reclamation areas. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences ($\alpha = 0.05$) between treatments within each plant species according to protected Fisher's LSD test. Means (n = 9) ± SE are shown.

2.3.2 Chlorophyll concentration

Blueberries in fresh topsoil had higher leaf total chlorophyll, chlorophyll-a, and chlorophyll-b concentrations compared with those blueberry plants growing in non-autoclaved stockpiled topsoil (Fig.2.3A,B,C). For blueberry plants there was no significant difference in leaf chlorophyll concentrations between the autoclaved stockpiled soil and the other soil types (Fig.2.3A,B,C). Leaf total chlorophyll-a, and chlorophyll-b concentrations in both Labrador tea and lingonberry plants were not affected by the soil type (Fig.2.3B,C).



Figure 2.3. Total leaf chlorophyll (A), chlorophyll "a" (B) and chlorophyll "b" (C) concentrations of blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*), Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) growing in fresh topsoil, autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil and non-autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil from oil sands reclamation areas. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences ($\alpha = 0.05$) between treatments within each plant species according to protected Fisher's LSD test. Means (n = 9) ± SE are shown.

2.3.3 Net Photosynthesis (Pn) and transpiration (E)

There were no differences in Pn (Fig.2.4A) and E (Fig.2.4B) between the three different soil treatments in any of the examined plant species.



Figure 2.4. Net photosynthesis (Pn, A) and transpiration (E), B) rates in blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*), Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) in plants growing in fresh topsoil, autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil and non-autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil from reclamation areas. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences (α =0.05) between treatments within each plant species according to protected Fisher's LSD test. Means (n=9) ± SE are shown.

2.3.4 Elemental analysis of leaf tissues

Leaf Ca concentrations of blueberry plants in the autoclaved stockpiled topsoil were significantly higher compared with the blueberry plants in other two soil types (Fig. 2.5A). In Labrador tea, there were no differences in leaf Ca concentrations among the three soil types (Fig. 2.5A). In lingonberry, plants in the autoclaved and non-autoclaved stockpiled topsoil had higher leaf Ca concentrations compared with the plants in fresh topsoil (Fig.2.5A).

Leaf K concentrations were similar in plants growing in the three different soil types in all three species (Fig.2.5B).

The soil type had no significant effects on leaf Mg concentrations in blueberry plants species (Fig.2.6A).

Leaf P concentrations of blueberries in fresh topsoil were significantly higher compared with plants in the non-autoclaved and autoclaved stockpiled soil (Fig.2.6B). In Labrador tea and lingonberry, no significant differences were observed in leaf P concentrations among the different soil types (Fig.2.6B).

Blueberry plants growing in fresh topsoil had higher N compared with the non-autoclaved and autoclaved stockpiled topsoil (Fig.2.7). Soil type had no effect on leaf N concentrations in Labrador tea and lingonberry plants (Fig.2.7).



Figure 2.5. Leaf calcium (Ca, A) and Potassium (K, B) concentrations of blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*), Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) plants growing in fresh topsoil, autoclaved stockpiled topsoil and non-autoclaved stockpiled topsoil from oil sands reclamation areas. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences ($\alpha = 0.05$) between treatments within each plant species according to protected Fisher's LSD test. Means (n = 9) ± SE are shown.



Figure 2.6. Leaf magnesium (Mg, A) and Phosphorus (P), B) concentrations of blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*), Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) plants growing in fresh topsoil, autoclaved stockpiled topsoil and non-autoclaved stockpiled topsoil from oil sands reclamation areas. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences ($\alpha = 0.05$) between treatments within each plant species according to protected Fisher's LSD test. Means (n = 9) ± SE are shown.



Figure 2.7. Total Nitrogen (TN) concentrations of blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*), Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) plants growing in fresh topsoil, autoclaved stockpiled topsoil and non-autoclaved stockpiled topsoil from oil sands reclamation areas. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences ($\alpha = 0.05$) between treatments within each plant species according to protected Fisher's LSD test. Means (n = 9) ± SE are shown.

2.3.5 Soil analyses

2.3.5.1 Soil pH and Electrical Conductivity

Increasing pH was observed in non-autoclaved stockpiled topsoil. pH from 5.7 in fresh soil raised to 6.5 in stockpiled topsoil. However, the pH of one-year stockpiled topsoil decreased to 5.7 after autoclaving. Fresh topsoil had the highest EC among all soil types (Table 2.1).

Table 2.3. pH, and electrical conductivity (EC) in the fresh topsoil, non-autoclaved stockpiled topsoil and autoclaved stockpiled topsoil (n= 5).

Soil Type	pН	EC(µS/cm)
Fresh Topsoil	5.7 b ±0.05	1146 a ±42.8
Non-autoclaved One-year Stockpiled Topsoil	6.5 a ±0.02	619.2 b ±21.5
Autoclaved One-year Stockpiled Topsoil	5.7 b ±0.1	571.4 b ±27.8

2.3.5.2 Soil Elements

No significance difference was observed in total nitrogen (TN) among different soil types. The highest calcium (Ca) and phosphorus (P) concentrations were observed in non-autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil. Also, the highest potassium (K), magnesium (Mg) and sodium (Na) were reported for autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil (Table 2.2).

Table 2.4. Elemental concentrations in the fresh topsoil, non-autoclaved stockpiled topsoil and autoclaved stockpiled topsoil (n=5).

Soil Elements	Soil Type				
	Non-Auto One-Year Topsoil	Autoclaved One-year Topsoil	Fresh Topsoil		
TN (W/W%)	0.499 a ±0.08	0.519 a ±0.05	0.314 a ±0.08		
Ca	12882.5 a ±1446.7	8111.3 b ± 1503.1	3474.6 c±291.4		
Р	748.5 a ± 101.5	$510.7 b \pm 61.6$	$377.1 b \pm 34.3$		
K	$332.5 b \pm 8.7$	1196.5 a ± 288.1	$217.6 b \pm 9.06$		
Mg	$1004.9 \text{ b} \pm 95.2$	2669.9 a ± 570.04	$468.9 b \pm 25.2$		
Na	63.7 b ±3.2	121.4 a ± 21.8	32.9 b ±1.5		

2.3.6 Root fungal colonization

Root colonization by ericoid mycorrhizal (ERM) fungi in blueberry plants was significantly higher in fresh topsoil (~ 47%) compared with the non-autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil (~ 21%) (Fig.2.8A). There was no significant difference root colonization intensity for blueberry plants between autoclaved and non-autoclaved soil types.

Root ERM colonization of Labrador tea plants was higher in fresh topsoil than in the nonautoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil ($\sim 45\%$ and $\sim 30\%$, respectively) (Fig.2.8B). Similarly to blueberry plants, there was no significant difference root colonization intensity in Labrador tea between autoclaved and non-autoclaved soil types.

No significant differences in ERM colonization were found for all three soil types in lingonberry plants (Fig.2.8C).

In the present study, epidermal cells of the fine hair roots of all plant species colonized by ERM fungal coils. Hyphal coils were present inside many epidermal cells of plant roots growing in fresh topsoil, but for those plants growing in stockpiled topsoil less root epidermal cells were occupied by hyphal coils. Unlike those plant roots were in stockpiled topsoil, the external side of hair plant roots growing in fresh topsoil surrounded by high loose hyphal networks (Fig.2.9).



Figure 2.8. Percentage colonization of roots by ericoid mycorrhizal (ERM) fungi in blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*), Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) plants growing in fresh topsoil, autoclaved stockpiled topsoil and non-autoclaved stockpiled topsoil. Means (n = 6) with the same letter are not significantly different as determined by the protected Fisher's LSD test.



Figure 2.9. Intracellular hyphal coils of ericoid mycorrhizal fungi in epidermal cells of stained roots of Blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*) in fresh (A) and non-autoclaved stockpiled topsoil (a) , Labrador Tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) in fresh (B) and stockpiled topsoil (b) and Lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) in fresh (C) and stockpiled topsoil (c).



Figure 2.10. Species richness (dotted lines) and the rarefaction-species-accumulation curve (solid lines) for fungi identified in the roots of six seedlings from Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) and blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*) growing in fresh Topsoil and one-year stockpiled Topsoil .

2.3.7 DNA identification of ERM

Through molecular cloning, out of the 25 selected colonies from each Labrador roots, I obtained one ERM fungus from plants growing in the stockpiled autoclaved soil (Table 2.3), six potential ERM fungi from plants growing in fresh soil (Fig.2.10A, Table 2.3), and three in the stockpiled non-autoclaved soil (Fig.2.10B, Table 2.3). For blueberry plant roots, there was one ERM fungus in the autoclaved stockpiled soil (Table 2.3), seven ERM fungi in the roots of plants growing in fresh topsoil (Fig.2.10C, Table 2.3), and five in the non-autoclaved stockpiled topsoil (Fig.2.10D, Table 2.3).

The roots of six blueberry and Labrador tea plants from the autoclaved soil were taken for molecular analyses. According to the NCBI database sequences, in the 25 sequenced colonies in each plant species the only identified fungal species was *Leohumicola verrucosa* from the Ascomycota division (Fig.2.11). Also, to identify of fungal species in plant roots of the other soil treatments, six blueberry and Labrador tea plants were randomly selected from both fresh and non-autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil. Molecular analyses showed that *L.verrucosa* and *Serendipita herbamans* fungi from the *Ascomycota* and *Basidiomycota* divisions, respectively, were present in both plant species in both soil treatments (Fig.2.12 and 2.13). *Clavaria citrinorubra* was recorded in both Labrador tea and blueberry plants grown in one-year stockpiled topsoil (Fig.2.12 A and 2.13 A). *Pezoloma ericae* was observed in roots of plants growing in fresh topsoil (Fig.2.12 B and 2.13 B). Other fungi, including *Phacidium grevilleae*, *Mycosymbioces mycenaphila*, *Acremonium dichromosporum*, *Micarea soralifera*, and *Xenopolyscytalum pinea* from the Ascomycota division, were found in the roots of both ericaceous plant species growing in both fresh and non-autoclaved stockpiled topsoil treatments (Fig.2.12 and 2.13).

Table 2.5. Molecular identification of fungal species isolated from roots of Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) and blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*), were grown in fresh topsoil, non-autoclaved stockpiled topsoil and autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil. Maximum identity was determined using BLASTn searches of nuclear ribosomal internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region.

Plant	Type of soil	Close related species	Number of bp	Reference
species			(Maximum	
			identity)	
		Serendipita herbamans	84%	Vohník et al (2016)
		Leohumicola verrucosa	99%	Hambleton et al (2005)
	Fresh	Phacidium grevilleae	85%	Present study
		Cadophora finlandica	93%	Gorfer et al (2009)
		Pezoloma ericae	99%	Midgley et al (2017)
		Mycosymbioces mycenaphila	89%	Present study
Labrador	Autoclaved	Leohumicola verrucosa	99%	Hambleton et al (2005)
Tea	stockpiled			
		Clavaria citrinorubra	86%	Englander and Hull (1980),
				Mueller et al. (1986)
		Serendipita herbamans	84%	Vohník et al (2016)
	Non-autoclaved Stockpiled	Leohumicola verrucosa	99%	Hambleton et al (2005)
		Pezoloma ericae	99%	Midgley et al (2017)
	Fresh	Acephala applanata	98%	Lukešová et al (2015)
		Cadophora finlandica	93%	Gorfer et al (2009)
		Acremonium	97%	Present study
		dichromosporum		·
		Serendipita herbamans	84%	Vohník et al (2016)
		Leohumicola verrucosa	99%	Hambleton et al (2005)
		Micarea soralifera	93%	Present study
Blueberry	Autoclayed	Loohumicola vormuoosa	000/	Hampleton at al (2005)
	Stockpiled	Leonumicota verrucosa	9970	Hambleton et al (2003)
		Clavaria citrinorubra	86%	Englander and Hull (1980), Mueller et al. (1986)
		Xenopolyscytalum pinea	93%	Present study
	Non-autoclaved	Serendipita herbamans	84%	Vohník et al (2016)
	Stockpiled	Leohumicola verrucosa	99%	Hambleton et al (2005)
		Cadophora finlandica	93%	Gorfer et al (2009)



Figure 2.11. Frequency distribution of *Leohumicola verrucosa* in the roots of Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) (A) and blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*) (B) plants grown in autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil.



Figure 2.12. Frequency distribution of various fungal species in the roots of Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) plants grown in non-autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil (A) and fresh topsoil (B).



Figure 2.13. Frequency distribution of various fungal species in the roots of blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*) plants grown in non-autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil (A) and fresh topsoil (B).

2.4 Discussion

In the present study, seedlings from three ericaceous plant species were examined to compare their physiological responses when grown in fresh soil and in the soil that was stockpiled for one-year. After seven months of growth, blueberry and Labrador tea plants had higher shoot and root dry weights in fresh topsoil compared with one-year stockpiled topsoil. Similar findings were reported for the legume species (*Accacia saligna*), which showed reduced growth in sandy soils from Western Australia that were stockpiled for one, two, three, five, and ten years under controlled-environment conditions (Birnbaum et al. 2017). Interestingly, the biomass reduction of *A.saligna* increased with increasing the duration of stockpiling (Birnbaum et al. 2017).

Possible factors that may contribute to this effect on plant growth include changes in soil physical and chemical properties and in microbial communities including beneficial mycorrhizal fungi and root endophytes as well as fungal pathogens (Gustafson & Casper 2006).

The pH increase in one-year stockpiled topsoil may resulted in plant growth reduction in this soil type, as ericaceous plant species require acidic soil to grow better (Morley et al. 1990). Changing in the chemical properties of the soil that was stockpiled for one year can be resulted from the mixing of soil horizons during removal and stockpiling (Wick et al. 2008).

In the present study, one-year stockpiled topsoil was autoclaved to eliminate soil microorganisms. The dry weights of blueberry and Labrador tea plants were higher in the autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil compared with the non-autoclaved stockpiled soil and had similar values to those in plants growing in the fresh topsoil. Autoclaving may change chemical and physical characteristics of soil (Trevors 1996; McNamara et al. 2003; Berns et al. 2008) and reduce soil pH (Darbar & Lakzian 2007). It is plausible that these changes in soil properties could

have contributed to the observed effects. In the present study, the pH of one-year stockpiled topsoil after autoclaving decreased from 6.6 to 5.7, which is near the optimum soil pH for ericaceous plants (4.4-5.5) (Morley et al. 1990). However, it is also possible that autoclaving alleviated potential effects of harmful microorganisms, which could hamper plant growth in the stockpiled soil.

In contrast to blueberries and Labrador tea, lingonberry plants in the non-autoclaved oneyear stockpiled topsoil had higher shoot to root dry weight ratios compared to the fresh topsoil. Cranberries growing in fresh topsoil were partly shaded by blueberry and Labrador tea plants that grew faster and were larger than lingonberry plants. Since blueberry and Labrador tea plants in the non-autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil were relatively small, they did not shade the lingonberry plants in this soil treatment.

The higher root and shoot dry weights of blueberry and Labrador tea plants were accompanied by higher P and N concentrations in the leaf tissues in the fresh topsoil treatment compared to the stockpiled topsoil. The higher levels of P and N in plants could be among the reasons for the increased plant growth (Oskarsson et al. 2006; Razaq et al. 2017).

Similarly, to N and P, total chlorophyll concentrations in blueberry plants were higher in fresh topsoil than in the remaining two soil treatments. Higher N and P tissue levels can enhance stromal and thylakoid proteins which can increase photosynthetic pigment concentrations in plant leaves (Cooke et al. 2005; Bojovic & Stojanovic 2006; Filho et al. 2011).

According to Cairney and Ashford (2002) and Perotto et al. (2002), in ericoid mycorrhizae, fungal hyphae can penetrate individual cells and create hyphal coils. Ericoid mycorrhizae usually do not form a hyphal mantle. Therefore, the presence of ericoid mycorrhizal colonization can only be verified using microscopy aided by staining of fungal hyphae as carried out in the present study.

Abdul-Kareem and McRae (1984) demonstrated that P, K and Mg values in clayey stockpile from Tonbridge region in London increased compared to the undisturbed soil. In the present study, electrical conductivity of the fresh topsoil was significantly higher than that of stockpiled topsoil, but the levels of the examined essential elements, including P and Ca, in (nonautoclaved) one-year stockpiled topsoil treatment were significantly higher than those in the fresh topsoil. No significant differences were found in other nutrients including N, K, Mg and Na between the fresh topsoil and non-autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil, suggesting that these mineral nutrients remained unchanged after one-year of stockpiling. In experiment by Ross and Cairns (1981), no significant differences were detected between mineral N levels in the ten-yearold stockpiled soil and adjacent undisturbed soil. It has been suggested that pedogenesis could restore soil chemical properties during these ten years. In another study by Birnbaum et al. (2017), there were no significant differences in chemical properties between the different soil stockpiles and references undisturbed sites. The pH of stockpiled topsoil in my study was higher than that of the fresh topsoil, which could have resulted from the build-up of ammonium (Abdul-Kareem & McRae 1984). It has been reported that the mineral nutrient uptake by plants, especially P, can be reduced by increased salinity levels (high EC) (Poss et al. 1985; Munns 1993; Grattan & Grieve 1999). However, despite the higher salinity of the fresh topsoil (1146 μ S/cm) compared with the stockpiled topsoil (619.2 µS/cm), blueberries in the fresh topsoil accumulated more P and N in their shoot tissues compared with the stockpiled topsoil. Increased P uptake by plant tissues under salinity conditions has been reported in some studies. Various factors can affect P accumulation in plant tissues, including the plant type, or even cultivar, and plant growth conditions (Grattan &

Grieve 1994). High levels of P and N in the leaves of blueberries in fresh topsoil could be due to the mycorrhizal fungi. The colonization intensity in blueberry and Labrador tea roots in fresh topsoil were higher than in the roots of plants growing in the stockpiled topsoil. Therefore, it is plausible that mycorrhizal fungi enhanced P and N uptake in these plants. Phosphorus acquisition in mycorrhizal plants can be increased due to the external fungal hyphae which can obtain P even from sparingly soluble P sources (Bolan et al. 1987). The effectiveness of external hyphae in P absorption can be attributed to the production of ectoenzymes, such as acid phosphatases and phytase, in the external hyphae of ecto- (Hilger & Krause 1989; Ho 1989) and endomycorrhizal fungi (Straker & Mitchell 1986). Plants colonized by the ectomycorrhizal and ericoid mycorrhizal fungi can access N sources which are not accessible to non-mycorrhizal plants (Bajwa & Read 1985; Abuzinadah & Read 1989; Finlay et al. 1992). These mycorrhizal fungi are able to produce extracellular acid proteinases which can mobilize N from organic matters (Leake & Read 1990; Zhu et al. 1990; Maijala et al. 1991). Furthermore, inflow of N into root tips of mycorrhizal plants can be increased (Hogberg 1989) due to the existence of fungal hyphae over nutrient depletion zone or because of a relatively continuous release of N from the fungal tissues (Nye & Tinker 1977; Harley & Smith 1983).

In roots of lingonberry growing in the three types of soil, colonization intensity was similar. and it was lower compared with blueberry and Labrador tea roots in the fresh topsoil. The roots of blueberry and Labrador tea plants in the fresh topsoil treatment had higher ERM colonization intensity compared with the plants in one-year stockpiled topsoil. These results support previously reported findings, which demonstrated that the topsoil storage can reduce arbuscular mycorrhizal colonization of plant roots in *A.saligna* during the first four years of storage (Birnbaum et al. 2017). The colonization of corn roots with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi was also reported to decline after three years of stockpiling storage (Gould & Liberta 1981). Soil microorganisms including mycorrhizal fungi require carbon to survive. Soil microbial communities can be re-established in older stockpiled topsoil (five and ten-years) due to the higher access to carbon. Because of the existence of dense vegetative cover on older stockpile soils, decomposition of plant residue will be higher, therefore, more carbon will be accessible for different soil microorganisms including mycorrhizal fungi (Birnbaum et al. 2017).

It was expected that fresh topsoil would have more ERM fungal species than one-year stockpiled topsoil, because soil stockpiling has been previously reported to reduce mycorrhizal diversity (Strohmayer 1999). In the study, which was conducted in south-west Australian jarrah forest, reduced ericoid endophyte infectivity was reported in forest topsoil following bauxite mining. This reduction could be due to disruption of the hyphal network, absence of host plants or increased competition from soil micro-organisms antagonistic to the endophytes (Hutton et al. 1996).

In the present study, molecular analyses demonstrated that ERM richness in fresh topsoil was higher than that in the one-year topsoil. In my study hair roots of blueberry and Labrador tea plants grown in fresh and one-year stockpiled topsoil, collected from the natural forest sites around the oil sands mining areas, had different fungal species. Most frequently recorded taxa were *L.verrucosa* and *S.herbamans* (Fig 2.11 and 2.12). These fungi were found in the hair roots of both examined plant species and in both fresh and non-autoclaved one-year topsoil. It has been reported that the roots of individual Ericaceous plants are typically colonized by several ERM fungal taxa simultaneously (Midgley et al. 2004; Bougoure & Cairney 2005).

Generally, *Sebacinales* spp. have been reported as common ERM fungi (Selosse et al. 2007) in *Vaccinium* roots. The *Sebacinales* spp. can form ericoid mycorrhizae and other types of

mycorrhizae such as orchid mycorrhizae, ecto- and ectendomycorrhizae with wide range of plants (Vohník et al. 2016). Serendipita herbamans is a fungal species in Serendipitaceae family from Sebacinales order. According to the microscopic and molecular results of several studies, Serendipitaceae spp. can be found in ericaceous plant roots. (Berch et al. 2002; Allen et al. 2003; Selosse et al. 2007; Ishida & Nordin 2010; Wurzburger et al. 2011; Setaro et al. 2013; Bruzone et al. 2015). Serendipitaceae has been also reported to be a fungal endophyte (Selosse et al. 2009; Weiss et al. 2011), which can grow in living plant tissues and not form any mycorrhizae (Wilson 1995; Rodriguez et al. 2009). My analysis of ITS sequences revealed the existence of L.verrucosa species in the roots of blueberry and Labrador tea plants grown in all soil types even in the plant roots grown in the autoclaved one-year topsoil. This species was isolated from heated soil of the commercial lowbush blueberry field in Nova Scotia, Canada. Leohumicola verrucosa has been also isolated from the unheated soil in Puerto Rico and from ericoid roots in Alberta, which shows that this fungus can have a broad distribution (Hambleton et al. 2005). In the present study, other frequent species of fungi in Labrador tea hair roots of fresh topsoil and blueberry roots of the nonautoclaved stockpiled topsoil were, respectively, P.ericae and C.citrinorubra. Pezoloma ericae is one of the prominent ERM fungi that has been reported from South America (Bruzone et al. 2016), South Africa (Kohout & Tedersoo 2017), Australia (Midgley et al. 2017), Europe, and North America in a wide range of plant species (Pearson & Read 1973b; Hambleton & Currah 1997; Sharples et al. 2000a; Bougoure et al. 2007; Kjøller et al. 2010; Walker et al. 2011; Wurzburger et al. 2011; Hazard et al. 2014). Much of our understanding of ericoid mycorrhizae came from P. ericae (Pearson & Read 1973a; Perotto et al. 2002; Smith & Read 2008). Fungal species in the *Clavaria* group are saprophytes, however, some of them are able to form ericoid mycorrhizae with ericaceous plant roots (Englander & Hull 1980; Mueller et al. 1986). Fungi of the genus Clavaria

can be found in wide range of areas in the boreal, temperate and tropical regions (Olariaga et al. 2015).

Acephala applanate species from Ascomycota division was found in blueberry roots in the fresh topsoil treatment. In the central European forest, *A.applanate* was able to create structures resembling ericoid mycorrhizae and Dark Septate Endophytes in blueberry roots (Lukešová et al. 2015).

There is no earlier evidence for *Phacidium grevilleae*, *Mycosymbioces mycenaphila*, *Acremonium dichromosporum*, *Micarea soralifera* and *Xenopolyscytalum pinea* from Ascomycota division to form ericoid mycorrhizae. This study is the first report demonstrating that the above species may be present in the roots of ericaceous plants.

Some of the common ERM fungi species that are globally distributed in Ericaceae roots are *Rhizoscyphus ericae*, *Oidiodendron maius*, and a group of unidentified *Helotiales* isolates. Although these species were not observed in this study, several authors reported their presence in the roots of *C. vulgaris* ((Perotto et al. 1996; Sharples et al. 2000a), and *Gaultheria shallon* (Monreal et al. 1999).

In conclusion, in the controlled-environment study, blueberry and Labrador tea plants showed greater growth in fresh topsoil compared with non-autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil. However, cranberries had lower shoot and dry weights in fresh topsoil compared to non-autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil. Cranberries in fresh topsoil were shaded by the larger blueberry and Labrador tea plants. High shoot and root dry weights, leaf chlorophyll concentration, P and N in blueberry plants in fresh topsoil were likely possible due to the greater mycorrhizal fungi colonization of their roots. The results also confirm that high degree of ericoid mycorrhizal fungi colonization in plant roots can result in an increased uptake of N and P in blueberries. Some plants in the autoclaved one-year stockpiled topsoil showed high dry weights, which is probably due to the presence of the heat-resistant ericoid mycorrhizal fungus.

Chapter 3

Study 2: Effects of ericoid mycorrhizal fungi on salt tolerance of ericaceous plant species

3.1 Introduction

Elevated soil salinity is among the major concerns in oil sands reclamation areas. Oil sands mining in northeastern Alberta, Canada, especially in the Athabasca River area, has become one of the most economically important industrial activities in this country (Audet et al. 2005). Mining disturbs vast areas of the northern boreal ecosystems, which need to be restored after mine closure. In the process of oil sands mining, bitumen is separated from the substrate through recycled hot water extraction, which leads to increased salinity levels. Soil salinity in oil sands reclamation areas is among the most challenging issues for vegetation establishment (Howat 2000). The uptake of Na⁺ by plants can be increased by the presence of Cl⁻ (Renault et al. 2001) and both Na and Cl ions together can be extremely harmful for plants (Martin & Koebner 1995).

Ericaceous plants including blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*), Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*), and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) are found in many northern boreal forest sites. These plant species are able to form symbiotic associations with ericoid mycorrhizal fungi (ERM). This mycorrhizal association is characterized by the formation of extracellular hyphae inside the epidermal cells of the fine hair roots of ericaceous plants and by a loose hyphal network around the plant roots (Read 1984).

Several studies have reported alleviation of the effects of salt stress on plants by the ectomycorrhizal and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (Evelin et al. 2009). Ectomycorrhizal fungi have been demonstrated to decrease Na uptake to shoots and leaf tissues (Muhsin & Zwiazek 2002b; Bois et al. 2006a). Several studies have also shown that arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi improve salt tolerance in their host plants by increasing water absorption capacity and adjusting the osmotic

balance and composition of carbohydrates (Rosendahl & Rosendahl 1991; Al-Karaki & Clark 1998; Ruiz-Lozano & Azco'n 2000; Ruiz-Lozano 2003). However, potential significance of ERM fungi in improving salt tolerance of ericaceous plants is unknown.

Meliniomyces variabilis can form ericoid mycorrhiza with the shrubs in the Ericaceae family, including *Vaccinium*, *Calluna*, and *Empetrum* which dominating understory layer of boreal forests (Hambleton & Sigler 2005). It has been investigated that this fungus has a worldwide distribution and has been detected molecularly and cultured from both ectomycorrhizal and ericoid mycorrhizal roots in many countries such as Canada, New Zealand, Norway, Finland, Germany, Czech Republic, Great Britain, and Ireland (Hambleton & Sigler 2005). Its ericoid mycorrhizal ability has beneficial effects on host plant growth and mutual transfer of carbon and nitrogen, with its host *in vitro* (Grelet et al. 2009).

Oidiodendron maius has a symbiotic relationship with the roots of ericaceous plants, and facilitate the exchange of nutrients between host plant roots and the soil (Rice & Currah 2006). Also, this fungus can protect it host plant under stress conditions such as heavy metal toxicity (Daghino et al. 2016).

The present study was conducted to gain better understanding of the effects of two ERM fungi including *O.maius* and *M.vaiabilis* on growth and physiology responses of ericaceous plants under NaCl stress. Theses two ERM fungi were isolated from the roots of ericaceous plants collected from Canadian boreal forest sites, and used as mycorrhiza inoculation in this experiment.

A controlled-environment study was carried out with blueberry (*V.myrtilloides*), Labrador tea (*R.groenlandicum*), and lingonberry (*V.vitis-idaea*) plants, which are used for oil sands reclamation. The following hypotheses were tested: 1. Plants of these three ericaceous plants vary

in their sensitivity to salt stress, and 2. Negative effects of high salinity on ericaceous plants can be alleviated by with the presence of ERM fungi on plant roots.

3.2 Material and Methods

3.2.1 Plant material and growth conditions

Seeds of blueberry, lingonberry and Labrador tea were surface-sterilized with sodium hypochlorite 20% for 2 min, followed by ethanol 70% for 5 min, and rinsed with autoclaved distilled water. Petri dishes with solid Murashige and Skoog medium (pH 5.7) (Murashige and Skoog 1962) were used to germinate sterilized seeds. The seeds were germinated, and seedlings grown in a controlled-environment growth room under the 16 h photoperiod, 23/18°C (day/night) temperature, and $65 \pm 10\%$ relative humidity. The germinants were transferred from Petri dishes to sterilized plug trays with 150 cm³ cells filled with the autoclaved potting mix and grown in these containers for five months before being transplanted to the bigger pots (500 cm³) containing the autoclaved potting mix. The seedlings were provided with water that was adjusted to pH 5.5 by H₂SO₄ when required and with N₂₀-P₂₀-K₂₀ commercial fertilizer every week.

3.2.2 Preparation of fungal inoculum

Fungal cultures of *O.maius* and *M.vaiabilis* were grown on potato dextrose agar solid medium in Petri dishes. They were kept in a dark place at room temperature (approximately 23°C) for four months. The cultures were then transferred to a flask containing liquid Melin Norkrans medium and continuously shaking for two months. The fungal cultures were homogenized with a Waring blender and autoclaved distilled water was added to mycelium slurry to dilute it to the final concentration of 0.42 mg dry mycelia/ml. The seedlings were inoculated with the mycelial slurry twice (Calvo-Polanco et al. 2009). The first inoculation was carried out with six-month-old
seedlings that were still inside the plug trays, and each tray cavity (150 ml) received four ml of the slurry. The second inoculation was conducted one month after the first inoculation immediately after transplanting the three-month-old seedlings to the 500 cm³pots. This time, 10 ml of the fungal slurry added to each pot. Twenty seedlings of each plant species were inoculated with *O.maius* and another 20 were inoculated with *M.variabilis*. The remaining 20 seedlings of each species were not inoculated and served as mycorrhizal control.

3.2.3 Treatments

Sodium chloride (30 mM NaCl) solution was applied to the plants one month after the second inoculation. Ten seedlings of each mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal group from each species were treated with 30 mM NaCl and another 10 with 0 mM NaCl (NaCl control). Ten pots of each plant group was placed in a tray (25 x 250 cm) with 0 or 30 mM NaCl for two days. After two days, the pots were removed and drained for two days and this treatment was repeated for four weeks. The trays were flushed to prevent salt accumulation every three days.

3.2.4 Shoot and root dry weights

Shoot and root dry weights of five seedlings for each of the three-plant species and treatment were determined. After harvesting the plants, their shoots and roots were separated, placed in paper bags and dried in an oven at 65°C for 72 h.

3.2.5 Leaf chlorophyll concentrations

Chlorophyll-a and chlorophyll-b concentrations were measured in fully expanded leaves of six plants from each species and treatment. The leaves were excised and placed in a freeze-drier for 72 hours and then immediately ground with a Thomas Wiley Mini-Mill (Thomas Scientific, NJ, USA). Approximately 10 mg dry weight of each ground leaf sample was combined with 8 ml dimethyl sulfoxide and chlorophyll was extracted at 65°C for 22 h. After filtering, chlorophyll concentrations were measured in dimethyl sulfoxide extracts with a spectrophotometer (Ultrospec, Pharmacia LKB, Uppsala, Sweden), at 648 nm and 665 nm for chlorophyll-a and chlorophyll-b concentrations, respectively. The total chlorophyll "a" and "b" concentrations were determined from the Arnon's equation (Sestak et al. 1971).

3.2.6 Gas exchange

After four weeks of NaCl treatments, six seedlings were selected from each species and treatment to measure the net photosynthesis (Pn) and transpiration (E) rates. The uppermost fully developed leaves were selected for the measurements with an infrared gas analyzer (LI-6400, LI-COR, Lincoln, Nebraska USA) at 400 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ PPFD, four weeks after the onset of photoperiod. Due to the small size of lingonberry leaves, five to ten leaves were inserted in the leaf chamber. Following the measurements, the leaves were detached and scanned, and the leaf areas were determined using the Sigmascan Pro 5.0 computer software (Systat Software, San Jose, CA).

3.2.7 Root fungal colonization

Five seedlings from each species and treatment were selected to examine fungal colonization on roots. In total 90 root samples were harvested and covered with aluminum foil and kept on ice, until they were delivered to the laboratory. The root tips were approximately 10 cm in length and were fixed in (formaldehyde (10 ml): glacial acetic acid (5 ml): ethanol (50 ml): distilled water (35 ml) Prior to microscopy, the roots were rinsed twice with distilled water, and then cleared in potassium hydroxide 2.5% KOH at 60°C for 30 min. After removing from the oven, the roots were washed twice with distilled water and commercial vinegar. The root samples were stained with ink (5%) in commercial vinegar at 60°C for 10 minutes. The stained roots were rinsed with

distilled water, cut in to 12 equal segments, mounted on microscope slides and observed under the light microscope. All root pieces were rated from 0 to 5 according to the extent of colonization with ericoid mycorrhizal fungi (Trouvelot et al. 1986). Finally, the intensity of mycorrhizal colonization in the root system (M) was calculated using the following equation:

M% = (95n5+70n4+30n3+5n2+n1)/(n total)

where n5 = number of fragments rated 5

n4 = number of fragments rated 4

n3=number of fragments rated 3

n2=number of fragments rated 2

n1=number of fragments rated 1

n total=total number of root fragments

3.2.8 Statistical analysis

All data were analyzed using SAS GLM model (Version 9.2, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC) to determine statistically significant ($p \le 0.05$) differences between treatments. In this study, a two-way ANOVA was used with ERM inoculation and NaCl treatments as the main factors. The data that did not meet the ANOVA assumptions of normality of distribution and homogeneity of variance were transformed with a log10 function. Comparisons between different treatment means were conducted using protected Fisher's LSD test. A representative table of the ANOVA results is shown in the Appendix section.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Root fungal colonization

Root fungal colonization of blueberry seedlings inoculated with *O.maius* was \sim 62% compared with \sim 60.4% in seedlings inoculated with *M.variabilis* (Table 3.1). Non-inoculated seedlings had between about 17% and 30% of roots colonized by the unknown fungi depending on the species (Table 3.1). Treatment with NaCl significantly reduced root colonization in all plant species (Table 3.1).

Table 3.1. Percentages of root mycorrhizal colonization intensity in non-inoculated seedlings of blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*), Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*), and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) and in seedlings inoculated with *Oidiodendron maius* and *Meliniomyces variabilis* subjected to 0 and 30 mM NaCl. Different letters after means indicate significant differences ($\alpha = 0.05$) between treatments within each plant species according to protected Fisher's LSD test. The values are means \pm SE of six seedlings per treatment.

	Oidiodendron maius	Meliniomyces variabilis	Non-Inoculated
		Blueberry	
0 mM NaCl	62.8 a ±2.6	60.4 ab ±5.8	17.6 c ±1.7
30 mM NaCl	51.6 b ±2.03	53.3 ab ±5.4	12.1 c ±1.3
		Labrador Tea	
0 mM NaCl	69.7 a ±3.1	70.8 a ±2.06	30.4 c ±2.1
30 mM NaCl	59.7 b ±2.4	61.3 b ±3.4	19.6 d ±3.3
		Lingonberry	
0 mM NaCl	71.7 a ±3.9	69.9 ab ±2.2	21.1 c ±3.08
30 mM NaCl	69.7 ab ±4.04	61.5 b ±2.2	12.9 c ±2.2

3.3.2 Gas Exchange

In control (not treated with NaCl) blueberry seedlings, net photosynthesis (Pn) was significantly higher in seedlings inoculated with *O.maius* compared with the non-inoculated plants (Fig.3.1A). Net photosynthesis decreased as a result of the 30 mM NaCl treatment and this decrease was greater in non-inoculated blueberries compared with those inoculated with ERM fungi (Fig.3.1A). There were no significant differences in the net photosynthesis between blueberry seedlings inoculated with *O. maius* and *M.variabilis* treated with 30 mM NaCl (Fig.3.1A).

There was no significant inoculation effect on Pn in Labrador tea plants (Fig.3.1B). However, when treated with 30 mM NaCl, plants inoculated with *O. maius* and *M. variabilis* had higher net photosynthesis than NaCl-treated non-inoculated Labrador tea plants (Fig.3.1B).

In lingonberry that was not treated with NaCl, Pn was higher in cranberries inoculated with the ERM fungi compared with the non-inoculated control cranberries (Fig.3.1C). Similarly, to blueberry and Labrador tea, in non-inoculated cranberries subjected to NaCl treatment, Pn was reduced to negative values (Fig.3.1C). In plants inoculated with *O. maius* and *M. variabilis* and treated with 30 mM NaCl, Pn did not significantly decrease compared with the untreated control (Fig.3.1C).

In control (not treated with NaCl) blueberry seedlings, transpiration rates (\in) were significantly higher in seedlings inoculated with ERM fungi compared with the non-inoculated plants (Fig.3.2A). Transpiration rates decreased as a result of the 30 mM NaCl treatment and this decrease was greater in non-inoculated blueberries compared with those inoculated with ERM fungi (Fig.3.2A). There were no significant differences in the transpiration rates between blueberry seedlings inoculated with *O. maius* and *M.variabilis* treated with 30 mM NaCl (Fig.3.2A).

In Labrador tea that was not treated with NaCl, transpiration was higher in seedlings inoculated with *O. maius* compared with the non-inoculated control Labrador tea . When plants subjected to 30 mM NaCl treatment, Labrador tea seedlings inoculated with *M.variabilis* had higher transpiration rates compared with other two mycorrhizal inoculation (Fig.3.2B).

In lingonberry that was not treated with NaCl, transpiration was higher in cranberries inoculated with the ERM fungi compared with the non-inoculated control cranberries (Fig.3.2C). Non-inoculated cranberries subjected to NaCl treatment had the lowest value of transpiration (Fig.3.2C).



Figure 3. 1. Net photosynthesis (*Pn*) rates in non-inoculated (NI) blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*) (A), Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) (B) and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) (C) and in plants inoculated with *Oidiodendron maius* (Om) and *Meliniomyces variabilis* (Mv). The plants were subjected to 0 (control) and 30 mM NaCl treatments for four weeks. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences ($\alpha = 0.05$) between treatments within each plant species according to protected Fisher's LSD test. Means. Means (n = 6) ± SE are shown.



Om= Oidiodendron maius Mv= Meliniomyces variabilis NI= Non-inoculated 0 mM NaCl 30 mM NaCl

Figure 3. 2. Transpiration (*E*) rates in non-inoculated (NI) blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*) (A), Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) (B) and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) (C) and in plants inoculated with *Oidiodendron maius* (Om) and *Meliniomyces variabilis* (Mv). The plants were subjected to 0 (control) and 30 mM NaCl treatments for four weeks. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences ($\alpha = 0.05$) between treatments within each plant species according to protected Fisher's LSD test. Means. Means (n = 6) ± SE are shown

3.3.3 Shoot and root dry weights

There was no effect of inoculation on root dry weights in blueberry plants that were not treated with NaCl (Fig.3.3A). The treatment with 30 mM NaCl reduced root dry weights in non-inoculated plants and in plants inoculated with *O.maius* and did not affect root dry weights in plants inoculated with *M.variabilis* (Fig.3.3A). In Labrador tea, plants that were not treated with NaCl and inoculated with *M.variabilis* had higher root dry weights compared with untreated plants inoculated with *O.maius* and with non-inoculated plants (Fig.3.3B). NaCl treatment reduced root dry weights in plants of all three inoculation treatments (Fig.3.3B).

In lingonberry, inoculation with *O.maius* and *M.variabilis* resulted in higher root dry weights (Fig.3.3C). Treatment with NaCl reduced root dry weights in non-inoculated plants but had no effect on root dry weights in plants inoculated with both ERM fungi.

In blueberry, there was no effect of inoculation on shoot dry weights in plants that were not treated with NaCl (Fig.3.4A). The 30 mM NaCl treatment reduced shoot dry weight in inoculated plants with *O.maius* and did not affect shoot dry weights of inoculated plants with *M.variabilis* and non-inoculated plants (Fig.3.4B). In Labrador tea, NaCl-untreated plants that were inoculated with *M.variabilis* had higher shoot dry weights compared with untreated noninoculated plants (Fig.3.4B). NaCl treatment reduced shoot dry weights in plants inoculated with *M.variabilis* and did not affect shoot dry weights of inoculated plants with *O.maius* and noninoculated plants (Fig.3.4B). NaCl treatment reduced shoot dry weights in plants inoculated with *M.variabilis* and did not affect shoot dry weights of inoculated plants with *O.maius* and noninoculated plants (Fig.3.4B). For lingonberry plants, Inoculation with *O.maius* and *M.variabilis* resulted in higher shoot dry weights (Fig.3.4C). Treatment with NaCl had no effect on shoot dry weights in all non-inoculated and inoculated plants with both ERM fungi (Fig.3.4C). There was no significant difference in shoot: root ratios between inoculated and noninoculated plants that were treated with 30 mM and 0 mM NaCl in all three-plant species (Fig.3.5).

Blueberry plants that were not treated with NaCl and were inoculated with *O.maius* had higher total plant dry weights compared with non-inoculated plants. There were no significant difference between total dry weights of inoculated plants with *M.variabilis* and non-inoculated plants (Fig.3.6.A).

In Labrador tea, inoculation with *M.variabilis* resulted in the highest total plant dry weights (Fig.3.6B). A reduced total dry weight was observed in Labrador tea plants inoculated with *M.variabilis* and no significant differences observed in total dry weights of plants inoculated with *O.maius* and non-inoculated plants (Fig.3.6B).

In lingonberry, *O.maius* inoculation resulted in a significant increase in the total plant dry weights compared with the other inoculation treatments (Fig.3.6C). The inoculation of plants with both ERM fungi was effective in preventing a total dry weight reduction by the NaCl treatment (Fig.3.6C).



Om= Oidiodendron maius

NI= Non-inoculated

30 mM NaCl

Mv= Meliniomyces variabilis

Figure 3.3. Root dry weights (g) in non-inoculated (NI) blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*) (A), Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) (B) and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) (C) and in plants inoculated with *Oidiodendron maius* (Om) and *Meliniomyces variabilis* (Mv). The plants were subjected to 0 (control) and 30 mM NaCl treatments for four weeks. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences ($\alpha = 0.05$) between treatments within each plant species according to protected Fisher's LSD test. Means. Means (n = 6) ± SE are shown.



Om= Oidiodendron maius Mv= Meliniomyces variabilis NI= Non-inoculated 0 mM NaCl 30 mM NaCl

Figure 3.4. Shoot dry weights (g) in non-inoculated (NI) blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*) (A), Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) (B) and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) (C) and in plants inoculated with *Oidiodendron maius* (Om) and *Meliniomyces variabilis* (Mv). The plants were subjected to 0 (control) and 30 mM NaCl treatments for four weeks. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences ($\alpha = 0.05$) between treatments within each plant species according to protected Fisher's LSD test. Means. Means (n = 6) ± SE are shown.



Figure 3.5. Shoot: Root dry weight Ratios in non-inoculated (NI) blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*) (A), Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) (B) and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) (C) and in plants inoculated with *Oidiodendron maius* (Om) and *Meliniomyces variabilis* (Mv). The plants were subjected to 0 (control) and 30 mM NaCl treatments for four weeks. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences ($\alpha = 0.05$) between treatments within each plant species according to protected Fisher's LSD test. Means. Means (n = 6) ± SE are shown.





Figure 3.6. Total dry weights (g) in non-inoculated (NI) blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*) (A), Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*) (B) and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*) (C) and in plants inoculated with *Oidiodendron maius* (Om) and *Meliniomyces variabilis* (Mv). The plants were subjected to 0 (control) and 30 mM NaCl treatments for four weeks. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences ($\alpha = 0.05$) between treatments within each plant species according to protected Fisher's LSD test. Means. Means (n = 6) ± SE are shown.

3.3.4 Leaf chlorophyll concentrations

In blueberry, leaf chlorophyll concentrations were higher in plants inoculated with the ericoid mycorrhizal fungi compared to non-inoculated plants (Fig.3.7). However, when subjected to 30 mM NaCl treatment, chlorophyll concentrations were similar in the inoculated and non-inoculated plants. In Labrador tea and lingonberry, both inoculation treatments resulted in higher leaf chlorophyll levels compared with non-inoculated plants both in control plants untreated with NaCl and following 30 mM NaCl treatment.



Figure 3.7. Total chlorophyll concentrations (mg g⁻¹) in non-inoculated (NI) blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*) Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*), and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*), and in plants inoculated with *Oidiodendron maius* (Om) and *Meliniomyces variabilis* (Mv). The plants were subjected to 0 (control) and 30 mM NaCl treatments for four weeks. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences ($\alpha = 0.05$) between treatments within each plant species according to protected Fisher's LSD test. Means. Means (n = 6) ± SE are shown.

3.4 Discussion

In the present study, physiological responses of blueberry, Labrador tea and lingonberry were examined in plants inoculated with two ERM fungi to 30 mM NaCl application. Microscopic observations revealed that the colonization intensity of non-inoculated plant roots was much lower compared with the inoculated plants. It was reported by that non-inoculated blueberry plants can become naturally colonized in a nursery with sporadic ERM spores, but the colonization rate was very low (<15%)(Scagel et al. 2005b). Colonization of *Rhododendron* spp. and lowbush blueberry with ERM fungi was also observed in nurseries (Moore-Parkhurst & Englander 1981).

By inoculating all three-plant species by two species of ERM fungi, I increased the intensity of ERM colonization in all three plant roots to about 60-70 %. Different root colonization intensities by ERM in ericaceous plants were reported in different studies including 30% in blueberry roots in nursery (Scagel 2005), 50% in blueberry roots in field production (Scagel & Yang 2005), and >90% in ericaceous plant species naturally established close to bogs (Scagel 2002).

The results of my study demonstrated that inoculation with *O.maius* and *M.variabilis* increased salt tolerance in the examined ericaceous plants. Root colonization by *O.maius* increased total dry weights of non-treated blueberry and lingonberry plants and colonization with *M.variabilis* enhanced total dry weights of non-treated Labrador tea and non-treated and NaCl-treated lingonberry plants. The biomass of plants is negatively influenced by salt stress due to osmotic effects of salt as well as direct ionic toxicity and reduced nutrient uptake (Evelin et al. 2009). Different plant species vary in their effectiveness in reducing Na⁺ and Cl⁻ transport from roots to the shoots, as one of the salt tolerance mechanisms (Yeo et al. 1977; Greenway & Munns 1980). However, some studies reported that highbush blueberries (*Vaccinium corymbosum*)

accumulated both Na⁺ and Cl⁻ in their leaves and they could not exclude these ions from their leaves (Ballinger 1962; Morley et al. 1992).

Several studies that were conducted to examine the effects of mycorrhizal fungi on plant growth under salinity stress focused on vescicular-arbuscular- and ectomycorrhizal associations. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi inoculation can enhance plant growth under salt stress conditions compared with non-inoculated plants (Al-Karaki 2000; Cantrell & Linderman 2001; Muhsin & Zwiazek 2002; Giri et al. 2003; Sannazzaro et al. 2007; Zuccarini & Okurowska 2008). Some studies attributed this effect to nutrition acquisition, especially P (Plenchette & Duponnis 2005; Sharifi et al. 2007) while other studies reported decreased root and shoot uptake on Na⁺ in mycorrhizal plants (Chandrasekaran et al. 2014).

In the present study, chlorophyll concentrations in plants inoculated with *O. maius* and *M.variabilis* fungi were higher compared with non-inoculated plants in all three-plant species that were not treated with NaCl. Labrador tea and lingonberry colonized with *O. maius* and *M. variabilis* had also higher chlorophyll concentrations under salt stress conditions compared with the non-mycorrhizal plants. It has been reported that the synthesis of photosynthetic pigments can be reduced due to suppression of specific enzymes that are responsible for the synthesis of chlorophyll pigments under salinity stress (Murkute et al. 2006). Furthermore, since Mg is essential for chlorophyll synthesis, the adverse effect of Na on Mg absorption can reduce the chlorophyll concentrations (Sheng et al. 2008). Numerous studies have reported high chlorophyll contents in the leaves of mycorrhizal plants (Giri & Mukerji 2004; Sannazzaro et al. 2006; Zuccarini 2007; Colla et al. 2008; Sheng et al. 2008). Negative effects of salt on leaf chlorophyll contents in plants can be alleviated by mycorrhizal fungi (Giri et al. 2003). This suggests that the adverse effects of Na⁺ on Mg²⁺ absorption can be alleviated by mycorrhizal correlated by mycorrhizal cord by mycorrhizal correlated by mycorrhizal corelated by mycorrhiza

general, mycorrhizal fungi are capable of increasing photosynthetic capacity of their host plants under salinity stress, which can help them reduce or counterbalance salt stress (Zuccarini 2007). Salt stress upsets water balance, which can reduce photosynthesis (Flexas et al. 2004). It has been documented that the stomata and mesophyll cells of plant leaves reduce CO₂ diffusion in the leaves under salt stress which can decrease photosynthetic rate (Flexas et al. 2004). On the other hand, Augé (2000) reported that increased CO_2 assimilation capacity in mycorrhizal plants can occur due to the increased stomatal opening, which may improve CO2 uptake for plant photosynthesis. In the present study, four weeks after the application of NaCl treatment, a significant reduction in net photosynthetic rate of both inoculated and non-inoculated blueberry and Labrador tea plants was observed. However, inoculated plants had a significantly higher net photosynthesis than noninoculated plants when subjected to the NaCl treatment. After four weeks of NaCl treatment, no significant reduction was observed in the net photosynthesis of inoculated cranberries, but net photosynthesis was drastically reduced in non-inoculated cranberries exposed to NaCl. Wu et al. (2006) reported a reduced gas exchange in both inoculated and non-inoculated citrus plants under salt stress that most of the effect could be probably due to the stomatal conductance.

In conclusion, the results of the study demonstrated improvement in growth, physiological parameters, and salt tolerance in the three species of ericaceous plants inoculated with *O. maius* and *M. variabilis*. The best results were obtained for inoculated lingonberry plants, which showed the greatest improvement in salt tolerance after four weeks of 30 mM NaCl treatments.

3.5 Synthesis

The first study used two approaches to investigate its overall objective, which was to evaluate the effects of fresh and one-year stockpiled topsoil on three ericaceous plant species (blueberry, lingonberry and Labrador tea). The first approach was to evaluate the growth and physiological responses of blueberry, lingonberry and Labrador tea seedlings in fresh topsoil compared to one-year stockpiled topsoil. In general, blueberries grown in fresh topsoil showed better performance compared to those in stockpiled topsoil. The second approach was to determine the ERM inoculum potential of topsoil (fresh and one-year stockpiled topsoil). This bioassay involved the use of morphotyping to assess mycorrhizal colonisation and molecular typing to determine the actual ERM species present in plant roots. ERM fungi were present in blueberry and Labrador tea roots of all soil types. The results showed that the roots of plants in fresh topsoil had the highest percentage colonization. Moreover, ERM fungal diversity in the roots of plants grown in fresh topsoil was higher compared to stockpiled topsoil.

In the second study of this thesis, the overall objective was to evaluate the effects of ERM fungi effects on the salt tolerance of ericaceous plants. The inoculation effect on physiological parameters varied in different plant species. There was an overall increase in total dry weight, gas exchange and chlorophyll of cranberries inoculated with ERM fungi when compared with non-inoculated plants under no salt treatment. The gas exchange data for all plant species demonstrated that inoculation of seedlings with selected ERM fungi increased photosynthesis and transpiration rates under salt stress. In lingonberry seedlings, there was a positive effect of inoculation on all examined parameters in salt-treated plants.

The results demonstrated that introduced mycorrhizal fungi can have significant effects on growth and salt tolerance of their host plant species. However, mores studies should be carried out to examine the presence of different resident fungi on seeds, which can spontaneously colonize plants. Since man-made disturbances, including oil sands mining activities, have an effect on soil mycorrhizal communities, the re-establishment of mycorrhizal networks may be one of the necessary steps for successful reforestation and rehabilitation of degraded lands (Sanon et al. 2010). Utilization of soil microsymbionts including mycorrhizal fungi in the process of land reclamation should be considered in improving reclamation success, as these fungi are able to increase both plant growth and improve soil quality in disturbed lands (Requena et al. 2001). In addition to mycorrhizal fungi, other groups of soil microorganisms, including plant growth promoting rhizobacteria, mycorrhiza helper bacteria, and N-fixing bacteria, are being utilized as inoculants in reclamation processes (Hrynkiewicz & Baum 2011). For example, the use of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria to enhance revegetation of mine tailings and minimise the need for compost amendment was explored and yielded increases in plant growth (Grandlic et al. 2008).

3.6 Reclamation application and significance

This thesis research benefits land reclamation programs responsible for boreal forest renewal, by demonstrating the importance of ERM fungi for growth and salt tolerance of blueberry, lingonberry, and Labrador tea plants. The results of my studies demonstrate that higher percentage of mycorrhizal colonization and greater diversity of ericoid mycorrhizal fungi in ericaceous plants growing in the fresh topsoil compared with the one-year stockpiled topsoil. This effect on mycorrhizal colonization of roots was likely the principal reason for lower growth rates of plants in the stockpiled soil. Since the stockpiling of soil may be necessary during oil sands operations, inoculation of ericaceous plants are faced with numerous environmental stresses including salinity. Inoculation of ericaceous plants with mycorrhizal fungi species offers a viable

means for the restoration of forest understory plants and has the potential to enhance plant survival and growth.

3.7 Suggestions for future research

While the results of the first study in this thesis indicate that ERM colonization potential of topsoil can be affected by stockpiling, future research should be carried out to examine the effects of longer-term storage (more than one year) on the ERM inoculation potential. Furthermore, I listed below several important topics for further research concerning the effects of stockpiling on soil quality for land reclamation application.

- 1. Examine the effects of the physical properties of the topsoil, such as bulk density, on growth potential of both microorganisms and plants in land reclamation soils.
- Determine the effects of mycorrhization on soil organic matter and its consequences for improving soil quality.
- 3. Identify mycorrhizal network of the topsoil by extraction fungal DNA directly from the soil.

While the results of the second study in this thesis show the potential benefits of ERM technology in reclamation of oil sand disturbed lands, there are also several areas that warrant further research. Among those, determining the interactions between ERM and other fungal and bacterial counterparts e.g. actinomycetes, plant growth promoting bacteria or mycorrhiza helper bacteria, could improve our knowledge concerning reclamation soil quality for revegetation of oil sands sites with ericaceous plants.

References

- Abdul-Kareem, A.W., McRae, S.G. 1984. The effects on topsoil of long-term storage in stockpiles. Plant and Soil, 76: 357-363.
- Abuzinadah, R.A., Read, D.J. 1989. The role of proteins in the nitrogen nutrition of ectomycorrhizal plants IV. The utilization of peptides by birch infected with different mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytologist, 112: 55-60.
- Adriano, D.C. 1986. Trace elements in the terrestrial environment. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York.
- Al-Karaki, G.N., Clark, R.B. 1998. Growth, mineral acquisition and water use by mycorrhizal wheat grown under water stress. Journal of Plant Nutrition, 21: 263-276.
- Allen, G.C., Flores-Vergara, M.A., Krasynanski, S., Kumar, S., Thompson, W.F., Gardes M., Bruns, T.D. 1993. ITS primers with enhanced specificity for *Basidiomycetes* application to the identification of mycorrhizae and rusts. Molecular Ecology, 2: 113-118.
- Allen, T.R., Millar, T., Berch, S.M., Berbee, M.L. 2003. Culturing and direct DNA extraction find different fungi from the same ericoid mycorrhizal roots. New Phytologist, 160: 255-272.
- Allen, W.K., Allaway, W.G., Cox, G.C., Valder, P.G. 1989. Ultrastructure of mycorrhizas of *Dracophyllum secundum*. (Ericales: Epacridaceae). Australian Journal of Plant Physiology, 16: 147-154.
- Audet, P., Pinno, B.D., Thiffault, E. 2015. Reclamation of boreal forest after oil sands mining: anticipating novel challenges in novel environments. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 45: 364-371.
- Augé, R.M. 2000. Stomatal behavior of arbuscular mycorrhizal plants. In: Kapulnik Y, Douds DD (eds) Arbuscular mycorrhizas. physiology and function. Kluwer, Dordrecht, pp 201-237.
- Bain, H.F. 1937. Production of synthetic mycorrhiza in the cultivated cranberry. Journal of agricultural science, 55: 811-835.
- Bajwa, R., Abuarghub, S., Read, D.J. 1985. The biology of mycorrhiza in the Ericaceae. X. The utilization of proteins and the production of proteolytic enzymes by the mycorrhizal endophyte and by mycorrhizal plants. New Phytologist, 101: 469-486.
- Bajwa, R., Read, D.J. 1985. The biology of mycorrhiza in the Ericaceae. IX. Peptides as nitrogen sources for the ericoid endophyte and for mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal plants. New Phytologist, 101: 459-467.
- Bajwa, R., Read, D.J. 1986. Utilization of mineral and amino N sources by the ericoid mycorrhizal endophyte *Hymenoscyphus ericae* and by mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal seedlings of *Vaccinium*. Transactions of the British Mycological Society, 87: 269-277.
- Ballinger, W.E. 1962. Studies of sulfate and chloride ion effects upon Wolcott blueberry growth and composition. Proceedings of American Society for Horticultural Science, 80: 9-331.

- Barker, A.V., Maynard, D.N., Mills, H.A. 1974. Variations in nitrate accumulation among spinach cultivars. Journal of American Society for Horticultural Science, 99: 32-134.
- Barker, W.G., Hall, I.V., Aalders, L.E., Wood, G.W. 1964. The lowbush blueberry industry in eastern Canada. Economic Botany, 18(4): 357-365.
- Bending, G.D., Read, D.J. 1996a. Effects of the soluble polyphenol tannic acid on the activities of ericoid and ectomycorrhizal fungi. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 28:1595-1602.
- Bending, G.D., Read, D.J. 1996b. Nitrogen mobilization from protein polyphenol complex by ericoid and ectomycorrhizal fungi. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 28:1603-1612.
- Bending, G.D., Read, D.J. 1997. Lignin and soluble phenolic degradation by ectomycorrhizal and ericoid mycorrhizal fungi. Mycological Research, 101: 1348-1354.
- Berch, S.M., Allen, T.R., Berbee, M.L. 2002. Molecular detection, community structure and phylogeny of ericoid mycorrhizal fungi. Plant Soil, 244: 55-66.
- Berta, G., Gianinazzi-Pearson, V., Gay, G., Torri, G. 1988. Morphogenetic effects of endomycorrhiza formation on the root system of *Calluna vulgaris* (L.) Hull. Symbiosis, 5: 33-44.
- Bieleski, R.L., Ferguson, I.B. 1983. Physiology and metabolism of phosphate and its compounds. Inorganic Plant Nutrition, 15:422-449.
- Birnbaum, C.H., Bradshaw, L.E., Ruthrof, K.X., Fontaine, J.B. 2017. Topsoil Stockpiling in Restoration: Impact of Storage Time on Plant Growth and Symbiotic Soil Biota. Ecological Restoration, Vol. 35, No. 3. ISSN 1522-4740 E-ISSN 1543-4079 by the Board of Regents of the University of Wisconsin System.
- Bizabania, C., Fontenlab, S., Damesa, J.F. 2016. Ericoid fungal inoculation of blueberry under commercial production in South Africa. Scientia Horticulturae, 209: 173-177.
- Bloom, A.J. 2015. The increasing importance of distinguishing among plant nitrogen sources. Current opinion in plant biology, 25: 10-16.
- Bloom, A.J., Frensch, J., Taylor, A.R. 2006. Influence of inorganic nitrogen and pH on the elongation of maize seminal roots. Annals of Botany, 97(5): 867-873.
- Bois, G., Bigras, F.J., Bertrand, A., Piché, Y., Fung, M.Y., Khasa, D.P. 2006a. Ectomycorrhizal fungi affect the physiological responses of *Picea glauca* and *Pinus banksiana* seedlings exposed to an NaCl gradient. Tree Physiology, 26: 1185-1196.
- Bojovic, B., Stojanovic, J. 2006. Some wheat leaf characteristics in dependence of fertilization. Kragujevac Journal of Science, 28: 139-146.
- Bolan, N.S., Robson, A.D., Barrow, N.J. 1987. Effects of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhiza on the availability of iron phosphates to plants. Plant Soil, 22: 401-410.
- Bonfante-Fasolo, P., Berta, G., Gianinazzi-Pearson, V. 1981. Ultrastructural aspects of endomycorrhizas in the Ericaceae. II. Host-endophyte relationships in *Vaccinium myrtillus*. New Phytologist, 89: 219 -224.

- Bonfante-Fasolo, P., Gianinazzi-Pearson, V. 1982. Ultrastructural aspects of endomycorrhiza in the Ericaceae III. Morphology of the dissociated symbionts and modifications occurring during their reassociation in axenic culture. New Phytologist, 91: 691-704.
- Bougoure, D.S., Cairney, J.W.G. 2005. Assemblages of ericoid mycorrhizal and other rootassociated fungi from Epacris pulchella (Ericaceae) as determined by culturing and direct DNA extraction from roots. Environmental Microbiology, 7: 819-827.
- Bougoure, D.S., Parkin, P.I., Cairney, J.W.G., Alexander, I.J., Anderson, I.C. 2007. Diversity of fungi in hair roots of Ericaceae varies along a vegetation gradient. Molecular Ecology, 16: 4624-4636.
- Bradley, R., Burt, A.J., Read, D.J. 1981. Mycorrhizal infection and resistance to heavy metal toxicity in *Calluna vulgaris*. Nature, 292: 335-337.
- Bradley, R., Burt, A.J., Read, D.J. 1982. The biology of mycorrhiza in the Ericaceae. VIII. The role of mycorrhizal infection in heavy metal resistance. New Phytologist, 91: 197-209.
- Brook, P.J. 1952. Mycorrhiza of Pernettya macrostigma. New Phytologist, 51: 388-397.
- Bruzone, M.C., Fehrer, J., Fontenla, S.B., Vohník, M. 2016. First record of *Rhizoscyphus ericae* in Southern Hemisphere's Ericaceae. Mycorrhiza, 27(2): 147-163.
- Bruzone, M.C., Fontenla, S.B., Vohník, M. 2015. Is the prominent ericoid mycorrhizal fungus *Rhizoscyphus ericae* absent in the Southern Hemisphere's Ericaceae? A case study on the diversity of root mycobionts in *Gaultheria* spp. from northwest Patagonia, Argentina. Mycorrhiza, 25: 25-40.
- Bucking, H., Kafle, A. 2015. Role of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in the nitrogen uptake of plants: current knowledge and research gaps. Agronomy, 5: 587-612.
- Burgeff, H. 1961. Mikrobiologie des Hochmoores. Stuttgart: Gustav Fisher Verlag.
- Burt, A.J., Hashem, A.R., Shaw, G., Read, D.J. 1986. Comparative analysis of metal tolerance in ericoid and ectomycorrhizal fungi. In: Gianinazzi-Pearson V, Gianinazzi S (eds), Physiological and Genetical Aspects of Mycorrhizae. INRA, Paris, pp. 683-687.
- Cairney, J.W.G., Burke, R.M. 1998. Extracellular enzyme activities of the ericoid mycorrhizal endophyte *Hymenoscyphus ericae* (Read) Korf & Kernan: their likely roles in decomposition of dead plant tissue in soil. Plant and Soil, 205: 181-192.
- Cairney, J.W.G., Meharg, A.A. 2003. Ericoid mycorrhiza: a partnership that exploits harsh edaphic conditions. European Journal of Soil Science, 54: 735-740.
- Calvo-Polanco, M., Zwiazek, J.J., Jones, M.D., MacKinnon, M.D. 2009. Effects of NaCl on responses of ectomycorrhizal black spruce (*Picea mariana*), white spruce (*Picea glauca*) and jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*) to fluoride. Physiologia Plantarum, 135: 51-61.
- Camp, W.H. 1945. The North American blueberries with notes on other groups of *Vacciniaceae* Brittonia. 5(3): 203-275.
- Chandrasekaran, M., Boughattas, S., Hu, S., Oh, S.H., Sa, T. 2014. A meta-analysis of arbuscular mycorrhizal effects on plants grown under salt stress. Mycorrhiza, 24(8): 611-25.

- Chastko, P.A. 2004. Developing Alberta's Oil Sands: From Karl Clark to Kyoto. Calgary: University of Calgary Press, 338 pp.
- Colla, G., Rouphael, Y., Cardarelli, M., Tullio, M., Rivera, C.M., Rea, E. 2008. Alleviation of salt stress by arbuscular mycorrhizal in zucchini plants grown at low and high phosphorus concentration. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 44: 501-509.
- Cooke, J.E., Martin, T.A., Davis, J.M. 2005. Short-term physiological and developmental responses to nitrogen availability in hybrid poplar. New Phytologist, 167(1): 41-52.
- Corns, I.G.W. 1983. Forest community types of west-central Alberta in relation to selected environmental factors. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 13: 995-1010.
- Cosgrove, D.J. 1967. Metabolism of organic phosphates in soil. In: McLaren AD, Peterson GH (eds), Soil Biochemistry. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp. 216-228.
- Couture, M., Fortin, J.A., Dalpe, Y. 1983. *Oidiodendron griseum Robak*. An endophyte of ericoid mycorrhiza in *Vaccinium* species. New Phytologist, 95: 375-380.
- Crossley, J.A. 1974. *Vaccinium L*. Blueberry. Seeds of woody plants in the United States. Agriculture. Handbook. 450. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service: 840-843.
- Daghino, S., Martino, E., Perotto, S. 2016. Model system to unravel the molecular mechanisms of heavy metal tolerance in the ericoid mycorrhizal symbiosis. Mycorrhiza, 26: 263-274.
- Dalpe, Y. 1986. Axenic synthesis of ericoid mycorrhiza in *Vaccinium angustifolium Ait*. by *Oidiodendron* species. New Phytologist, 103: 391-396.
- Dalpe, Y. 1991. Statut endomycorhizien du genre *Oidiodendron*. Canadian Journal of Botany, 69: 1712-1714
- Dalpe, Y., Litten, W., Sigler, L. 1989. *Scytalidium vaccinii* a new species, an ericoid endophyte of *Vaccinium angustifolium* roots. Mycotaxon, 35: 371-378.
- Danielson, R. 1985. Mycorrhizae and reclamation of stressed terrestrial environments. In: soil reclamation processes. Tate R, Klein DA (eds), 173-201.
- Danielson, R.M., Visser, S. 1989. Host response to inoculation and behaviour of induced and indigenous ectomycorrhizal fungi of jack pine grown on oil-sands tailings. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 19:1412-1421.
- Danielson, R.M., Visser, S., Parkinson, D. 1983. Microbial activity and mycorrhizal potential of four overburden types used in the reclamation of extracted oil sands. Canadian Journal of Soil Science, 63: 363-375.
- Denny, H.J., Ridge, I. 1995. Fungal slime and its role in the mycorrhizal amelioration of zinc toxicity to higher plants. New Phytologist, 130: 251-257.
- Dodd, I.C., Pérez-Alfocea, F. 2012. Microbial amelioration of crop salinity stress. Journal of Experimental Botany, 63: 3415-3428.

- Douglas, C.G., Heslin, M.C., Read, C. 1989. Isolation of *Oidiodendron maius* from *Rhododendron* and ultrastructural characterisation of synthesised mycorrhizas. Canadian Journal of Botany, 67: 2206-2212.
- Egger, K.N., Sigler, L. 1993. Relatedness of the ericoid endophytes *Scytalidium vaccinii* and *Hymenoscyphus ericae* inferred from analysis of ribosomal DNA. Mycologia, 85: 219-230.
- Eissenstat, D.M., Achor, D.S. 1999. Anatomical characteristics of roots of citrus rootstocks that vary in specific root length. New Phytologist, 141:309-321.
- Englander, L., Hull, R.J. 1980. Reciprocal transfer of nutrients between ericaceous plants and a *Clavaria spp*. New Phytologist, 84: 661-667.
- Epstein, E., Bloom, A.J. 2004. Mineral nutrition of plants: Principles and perspectives. Sunderland MA: Sinauer Associates, Inc, 2:402pp.
- Evelin, H., Kapoor, R., Giri, B. 2009. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in alleviation of salt stress: a review Applied Mycology Laboratory. Department of Botany, University of Delhi. Annals of Botany, 104: 1263-1280.
- Fernqvist, I. 1977. Results of experiments with cowberries and blueberries in Sweden. Acta Horticulturae, 61: 295-300.
- Filho, M.C.M.T., Buzetti, S., Andeotti, M., Arf, O., De Sa', M.E. 2011. Application times, sources and doses of nitrogen on wheat cultivars under no till in the Cerrado region. Ciência Rural, 41(8): 1375-1382.
- Finlay, R.D., Frostegard, A., Sonnerfeldt, A.M. 1992. Utilization of organic and inorganic nitrogen sources by ectomycorrhizal fungi in pure culture and in symbiosis with *Pinus contorta Dougl*. New Phytologist, 120: 105-115.
- Flexas, J., Bota, J., Loreto, F., Cornic, G., Sharkey, T.D. 2004. Diffusive and metabolic limitations to photosynthesis under drought and salinity in C3 plants. Plant Biology, 6: 269-279.
- Fortin, J.A., Plenchette, C., Piché, Y. 2009. Mycorrhizas: the new green revolution. Quebec, Canada: Editions MultiMondes.
- Freedman, B., Hutchinson, T.C. 1980. Pollutant inputs from the atmosphere and accumulations in soils and vegetation near a nickel-copper smelter at Sudbury, Ont., Canada. Canadian Journal of Botany, 58: 108-132.

Fresquez, P.R., Aldon, E.F. 1984. Distribution of fungal genera in stockpiled topsoil and coal mine spoil overburden. Research note RM-447. USDA Forest Service.

- Gibson, B.R., Mitchell, D.T. 2005a. Influence of pH on copper and zinc sensitivity of ericoid mycobionts in vitro. Mycorrhiza, 15: 231-234.
- Giri, B., Mukerji, K.G. 2004. Mycorrhizal inoculant alleviates salt stress in *Sesbania aegyptiaca* and *Sesbania grandiflora* under field conditions: evidence for reduced sodium and improved magnesium uptake. Mycorrhiza, 14: 307-312.

- Gorfer, M., Persak, H., Berger, H., Brynda, S., Bandian, D., Strauss, J. 2009. Identification of heavy metal regulated genes from the root associated ascomycete *Cadophora finlandica* using a genomic microarray. Mycological Research, 113: 1377-1388.
- Gould, A.B., Liberta, A.E. 1981. Effects of topsoil storage during surface mining on the viability of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhiza. Mycologia, 73: 914-922.
- Government of Alberta. 2009b. Environmental management of Alberta's oil sands. ISBN: 978-7785-7677-8.
- Grandlic, C., Mendez, M.O., Chorover, J., Maier, R.M. et al. 2008. Plant growth-promoting bacteria for phytostabilization of mine tailings. Environmental Science and Technology, 42(6): 2079-84.
- Grattan, S.R., Grieve, C.M. 1999. Salinity-mineral nutrient relations in horticultural crops. Scientia Horticulturae, 78: 127-157.
- Greenway, H., Munns, R. 1980. Mechanisms of salt tolerance in non-halophytes. Annual Review of Plant Physiology, 31: 149-90.
- Grelet, G., Meharg, A.A., Alexander, I.J. 2005. Carbon availability affects nitrogen source utilisation by *Hymenoscyphus ericae*. Mycological Research, 109: 469-477.
- Grelet, G.A., Meharg, A.A., Duff, E.I., Anderson, I.C., Alexander, J.J. 2009. Small genetic differences between ericoid mycorrhizal fungi affect nitrogen uptake by *Vaccinium*. New Phytologist, 181(3): 708-718.
- Grelet, G.A., Johnson, D., Paterson, E., Anderson, I.C., Alexander, I.J. 2009. Reciprocal carbon and nitrogen transfer between an ericaceous dwarf shrub and fungi isolated from *Piceirhiza bicolorata* ectomycorrhizas. New Phytologist, 182(2): 359-366.
- Griffiths, R.P., Caldwell, B.A. 1992. Mycorrhizal mat communities in forest soils. In: Read DJ, Lewis DH, Fitter AH, Alexander IJ (eds), Mycorrhizas in Ecosystems. Wallingford, 98-105.
- Guiñazú, L.B., Andrés, J.A., Del Papa, M.F., Pistorio, M., Rosas, S.B. 2010. Response of alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.) to single and mixed inoculation with phosphate-solubilizing bacteria and *Sinorhizobium meliloti*. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 46: 185-190.
- Guo, D.L., Xia, M.X., Wei, X., Chang, W.J., Liu, Y., Wang, Z.Q. 2008. Anatomical traits associated with absorption and mycorrhizal colonization are linked to root branch order in twenty-three Chinese temperate tree species. New Phytologist, 180(3): 673-683
- Hall, I.V. 1957. The tap root in lowbush blueberry. Canadian Journal of Botany 35(6): 933-934.
- Hall, I.V., Shay, J.M. 1981. The biological flora of Canada. Canadian Field-Naturalist, 95(4): 434-464.
- Hambleton, S., Nickerson, N.L., Seifert, K.A. 2005. *Leohumicola*, a new genus of heat-resistant hyphomycetes. Studies in Mycology, 53: 29-52.
- Hambleton, S., Currah, R.S. 1997. Fungal endophytes from the roots of alpine and boreal Ericaceae. Canadian Journal of Botany, 75:1570-1581.

- Hambleton, S., Sigler, L. 2005. *Meliniomyces*, a new anamorph genus for root-associated fungi with phylogenetic affinities to *Rhizoscyphus ericae* (*Hymenoscyphus ericae*), *Leotiomycetes*. Studies in Mycology, 53: 1-27.
- Hancock, J.F., Draper, A.D. 1989. Blueberry culture in North America. Horticultural Science, 24(4): 551-556.
- Hannon, N.J. 1956. The status of nitrogen in the Hawkesbury Sandstone soils and their plant communities in the Sydney district. The significance and level of nitrogen. Proceedings of the Linnaean Society of New South Wales, 81: 118-143.
- Harley, J.L., Smith, S.E. 1983. Mycorrhizal Symbiosis. Academic Press, London, 483 pp.
- Hashem, A., Abd_Allah, E.F., Alqarawi, A.A., Aldubise, A., Egamberdieva, D. 2015. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi enhances salinity tolerance of *Panicum turgidum Forssk* by altering photosynthetic and antioxidant pathways. Journal of Plant Interactions 10:1, 230-242.
- Hashem, A.R. 1995. The role of mycorrhizal infection in the resistance of *Vaccinium macrocarpon* to manganese. Mycorrhiza 5: 289-291.
- Havill, D.C., Lee, J.A., Stewart, G.R. 1974. Nitrate utilisation by species from acidic and calcareous soils. New Phytologist, 73: 1221-1231.
- Hazard, C., Gosling, P., Mitchell, D.T. 2014. Diversity of fungi associated with hair roots of ericaceous plants is affected by land use. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 87: 586–600.
- Hilger, A.B., Krause, H.H. 1989. Growth characteristics of *Laccaria laccata* and *Paxillus involutus* in liquid culture media with inorganic and organic phosphorus sources. Canadian Journal of Botany, 67: 1782-1789.
- Hishi, T. 2007. Heterogeneity of individual roots within the fi ne root architecture: Causal links between physiological and ecosystem functions. Journal of Forestry Research, 12:126-133.
- Ho, I. 1989. Acid phosphatase, alkaline phosphatase, and nitrate reductase activity of selected ectomycorrhizal fungi. Canadian Journal of Botany, 67: 750-753.
- Hodge, A., Helgason, T., Fitter, A.H. 2010. Nutritional ecology of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Fungal Ecology, 3: 267-273.
- Hogberg, P. 1989. Growth and nitrogen inflow rates in mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal seedlings of *Pinus sylvestris*. Forest Ecology Management, 28: 7-17.
- Holloway, P.S. 1981. Studies on vegetative and reproductive growth of lingonberry, *Vaccinium vitis-idaea L*. Saint Paul, MN: University of Minnesota. 148 p. Thesis.
- Howat, D. 2000. Acceptable salinity, sodicity and pH values for boreal forest reclamation, Alberta environment. Environmental Sciences Division, 191 pp.
- Hrudey, S.E., Gosselin, P., Naeth, M.A., Plourde, A., Therrien, R., Kraak, G.V.D., Xu, Z. 2010. Environmental and health impacts of Canada's oil sands industry. The Royal Society of Canada, 414 pp.

- Hrynkiewicz, K., Baum, C. 2011. The potential of rhizosphere microorganisms to promote the plant growth in disturbed soils. In: Malik A, Grohmann E, (eds). Environmental protection strategies for sustainable development, strategies for sustainability. Springer Science+Business Media B.V. pp: 35-60.
- Hutton, B.J., Dixon, K.W., Sivasithamparam, K. 1994. Ericoid endophytes of Western Australian heaths (Epacridaceae). New Phytologist, 127: 557-577.
- Hutton, B.J., Dixon, K.W., Sivasithamparam, K., Pate, J.S. 1997. Effect of habitat disturbance on inoculum potential of ericoid endophytes of Western Australian heaths (*Epacridaceae*). New Phytologist. 135: 739-744.
- Isaac, S. 1992. Fungal-plant interactions book. 418 pp.
- Ishida, T.A., Nordin, A. 2010. No evidence that nitrogen enrichment affect fungal communities of *Vaccinium* roots in two contrasting boreal forest types. Soil Biology Biochemistry, 42: 234-243.
- Jameson, J.S. 1961. Observations on factors influencing jack pine reproduction in Saskatchewan. Technical Note No. 97. Forest Research Division, Department of Forestry, Canada. 24 p.
- Jeglum, J.K. 1971. Plant indicators of pH and water level in peatlands at Candle Lake, Saskatchewan. Canadian Journal of Botany, 49: 1661-1676.
- Jeng, A.S., Bergseth, H. 1992. Chemical and mineralogical properties of Norwegian alum shale soils, with special emphasis on heavy metal content and availability. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica B, 42: 88-93.
- Kardell, L. 1986. Occurrence and berry production of *Rubus chamaemorus* L., *Vaccinium oxycoccus* L., *Vaccinium microcarpum* Turcz. and *Vaccinium vitis-idaea* on Swedish peatlands. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 1(1): 125-140.
- Keeler, H.L. 1969. *Vacciniaceae*--huckleberry family. In: Our northern shrubs and how to identify them. New York: Dover Publications, Inc. 315-342.
- Kemp, E., Adam, P., Ashford, A.E. 2003. Seasonal changes in hair roots and mycorrhizal colonization in *Woollsia pungens*. Plant and Soil, 250: 241-248.
- Kerley, S.J. 1993. The role of mycorrhizal fungi in the mineralization of nitrogen from organic compounds with special reference to aseptically produced natural substrates. PhD thesis, Department of Animal and Plant Sciences, University of Sheffield.
- Kim, J., Lee, Y.W., Chung, J. 2013. The role of organic acids in the mobilization of heavy metals from soil. KSCE Journal of Civil Engineering, 17(7): 1596-1602.
- Kjøller, R., Olsrud, M., Michelsen, A. 2010. Co-existing ericaceous plant species in a subarctic mire community share fungal root endophytes. Fungal Ecology, 3: 205-214.
- Klinka, K., Carter, R.E., Feller, M.C., Wang, Q. 1989. Relations between site index, salal, plant communities, and sites in coastal Douglas-fir ecosystems. Northwest Science, 63(1):19-28.
- Kohout, P., Tedersoo, L. 2017. Effect of soil moisture on root-associated fungal communities of Erica dominans in Drakensberg mountains in South Africa. Mycorrhiza, 27(4): 397-406

- Korcak, R.F. 1988. Nutrition of blueberry and other calcifuges. Horticultural Reviews, 10: 183-227.
- Kosola, K.R., Spada, P.A. 2007. Inoculation of cranberry (*Vaccinium macrocarpon*) with the ericoid mycorrhizal fungus *Rhizoscyphus ericae* increases nitrate influx. New Phytologist, 176, 184-196.
- Kosola, K.R., Workmaster, B.A. 2007. Mycorrhizal colonization of cranberry: Effects of cultivar, soil type, and leaf litter composition. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science, 132: 134-141.
- Kuchko, A.A. 1988. Bilberry and cowberry yields and the factors controlling them in the forests of Karelia. Acta Botanica Fennica, 136: 23-25.
- Kumar, P., Hallgren, S.W., Enstone, D.E., Peterson, C.A. 2007. Root anatomy of *Pinus taeda*: Seasonal and environmental effects on development in seedlings. Trees Structure and Function, 21: 693 -706.
- Larsen, J.A. 1971. Vegetational relationships with air mass frequencies: boreal forest and tundra. Arctic, 24: 177-194.
- Lawlor, D.W. 2002. Carbon and nitrogen assimilation in relation to yield: mechanisms are the key to understanding production systems. Journal of Experimental Botany, 53(370): 773-787.
- Leake, J.R., Miles, W. 1996. Phosphodiesters as mycorrhizal phosphorus sources. Phosphodiesterase production and the utilisation of DNA as a P source by the ericoid mycorrhizal fungus *Hymenoscyphus ericae*. New Phytologist, 132: 435-443.
- Leake, J.R., Read, D.J. 1989. The biology of mycorrhiza in the Ericaceae. XIII. Some characteristics of the extracellular proteinase activity of the ericoid endophyte. New Phytologist, 112: 69-76.
- Leake, J.R., Read, D.J. 1990. Proteinase activity in mycorrhizal fungi I. The effect of extracellular pH on the production and activity of proteinase by ericoid endophytes from soils of contrasted pH. New Phytologist, 115: 243-250.
- Leake, J.R., Read, D.J. 1990b. Chitin as a nitrogen source for mycorrhizal fungi. Mycological Research, 94: 993-995.
- Leake, J.R., Read, D.J. 1990c. Proteinase activity in mycorrhizal fungi. II. The effects of mineral and organic nitrogen sources on induction of extracellular proteinase in *Hymenoscyphus ericae* (Read) Korf & Kernan. New Phytologist, 116: 123-128.
- Leake, J.R., Read, D.J. 1991. Experiments with ericoid mycorrhiza. In: Norris JR, Read DJ, Varma AK (eds). Methods in microbiology. Volume 23. Academic Press, 435-459.
- Leatherdale, J.D. 2008. Soil moisture and nutrient regimes of reclaimed upland slopes in the oil sands region of Alberta, M.Sc. Thesis, Department of Renewable Resources, University of Alberta.
- Lehmushovi, A. 1975. Methods of propagating the cowberry. Annales Agriculturae Fenniae, 14(4): 325-333.

- Levitt, J. 1980. The responses of plants to environmental stress. Volume 2. Water, radiation, salt and other stresses. Academic Press, 365 pp.
- Leyval, C., Turnau, K., Haselwandter, K. 1997. Effect of heavy metal pollution on mycorrhizal colonization and function: physiological, ecological and applied aspects. Mycorrhiza, 7:139-153.
- Lukešová, T., Kohout, P., Větrovský, T., Vohník, M. 2015. The potential of dark septate endophytes to form root symbioses with ectomycorrhizal and ericoid mycorrhizal middle European forest plants. PLOS One, 10(4): e0124752.
- Luteyn, J.L. 2002. Diversity, adaptation, and endemism in neotropical Ericaceae: biogeographical patterns in the *Vaccinieae*. Botanical Review, 68: 55-87.
- Maijala, P., Fagerstedt, K.F., Raudaskoski, M. 1991. Detection of extracellular cellulolytic and proteolytic activity in ectomycorrhizal fungi and *Heterobasidion annosum* (Ft.) Bref. New Phytologist, 117: 643-648.
- Maillette, L. 1988. Apparent commensalism among three *Vaccinium* species on a climatic gradient. Journal of Ecology, 76: 877-888.
- Malajczuk, N., Reddell, P., Brundrett, M. 1994. Role of ectomycorrhizal fungi in mine land reclamation. In Mycorrhizae and plant health, Pfleger FL, Linderman RG (eds). American Phytopathological Society Press, pp: 83-100.
- Marrs, R.H., Bannister, P. 1978. The adaptation of *Calluna vulgaris* (L.) Hull to contrasting soil types. New Phytologist, 81: 753-761.
- Marschner, H. 1995. Mineral nutrition of higher plants. Academic Press, pp: 889.
- Martin, P.K., Koebner, R.M.D. 1995. Sodium and chloride ions contribute synergistically to salt toxicity in wheat . Volume 37, Issue 2, pp: 265-271.
- Martínez-Vilalta, J., Prat, E., Oliveras, I., Piñol, J. 2002. Xylem hydraulic properties of roots and stems of nine Mediterranean woody species. Oecologia, 133: 19-29.
- McCully, M.E. 1999. Roots in soil: Unearthing the complexities of roots and their rhizospheres. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology, 50: 695-718.
- McKenzie, B.E., Peterson, C.A. 1995. Root browning in *Pinus banksiana* and *Eucalyptus pilularis* Sm. 2. anatomy and permeability of the cork zone. Acta Botanica, 108: 138-143.
- Meharg, A.A., Cairney, J.W.G. 2000. Co-evolution of mycorrhizal symbionts and their hosts to metal-contaminated environments. Advances in Ecological Research, 30: 69-112.
- Meharg, A.A., Macnair, M.R. 1992. Suppression of the high-affinity phosphate-uptake system a mechanism of arsenate tolerance in *Holcus lanatus* L. Journal of Experimental Botany, 43: 519-524.
- Midgley, D.J., Chambers, S.M., Cairney, J.W.G. 2004. Distribution of ericoid mycorrhizal endophytes and root-associated fungi in neighbouring Ericaceae plants in the field. Plant and Soil, 259: 137-151.

- Midgley, D.J., Greenfield, P., Bissett, A., Tran-Dinh, N. 2017. First evidence of *Pezoloma ericae* in Australia: using the Biomes of Australia Soil Environments (BASE) to explore the Australian phylogeography of known ericoid mycorrhizal and root-associated fungi. Mycorrhiza, 27(6): 587-594.
- Miransari, M. 2011. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and nitrogen uptake. Archives of Microbiology, 193(2): 77-81.
- Mitchell, D.T., Gibson, B.R. 2006. Ericoid mycorrhizal association: ability to adapt to a broad range of habitats. Mycologist, 20: 2-9.
- Mitchell, D.T., Read, D.J. 1981. Utilization of inorganic and organic phosphates by the mycorrhizal endophytes of *Vaccinium macrocarpon* and *Rhododendron ponticum*. Transactions of the British Mycological Society, 76: 225-260.
- Morrison, M. 1957. Host-endophyte relationship in mycorrhiza of *Pernetrya macrostigma*. New Phytologist, 56: 247-257.
- Moore-Parkhurst, S., Englander, L. 1981. A method for the synthesis of a mycorrhizal association between *Pezizella ericae* and *Rhododendron maximum* seedlings growing in a defined medium. Mycologia, 73: 994-997.
- Mueller, W.C., Tessier, B.J., Englander, L. 1986. Immunocytochemical detection of fungi in the roots of *Rhododendron*. Canadian Journal of Botany, 64: 718-723.
- Muhsin, T.M., Zwiazek, J.J. 2002. Ectomycorrhizas increase apoplastic water transport and root hydraulic conductivity in *Ulmus americana* seedlings. New Phytologist, 153: 153-158.
- Munns, R. 1993. Physiological responses limiting plant growth in saline soils: some dogmas and hypotheses. Plant, Cell & Environment, 16: 15-24.
- Murkute, A.A., Sharma, S., Singh, S.K. 2006. Studies on salt stress tolerance of citrus rootstock genotypes with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Horticultural Science, 33: 70-76.
- Mushin, T.M., Zwiazek, J.J. 2002b. Colonization with *Hebeloma crustuliniforme* increases water conductance and limits shoot sodium uptake in white spruce (*Picea glauca*) seedlings. Plant and Soil, 238: 217-225.
- Murashige, T., Skoog, F. 1962. A revised medium for rapid growth and bio assays with tobacco tissue cultures. Physiologia Plantarum, 15: 473-497.
- Myers, M.D., Leake, J.R. 1996. Phosphodiesters as mycorrhizal P sources. II. Ericoid mycorrhiza and the utilization of nuclei as a phosphorus and nitrogen source by *Vaccinium macrocarpon*. New Phytologist, 132: 445-451.
- Nadeem, S., Ahmad, M., Zahir, Z., Ashraf, M., Javaid, A. 2014. The role of mycorrhizae and plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) in improving crop productivity under stressful environments. Biotechnology Advances, 32: 429-448.
- Nye, P.H., Tinker, P.B. 1977. Solute movement in the soil-root system. Blackwell, Oxford, 342 pp.

- Olariaga, I., Van Vooren, N., Carbone, M., et al. 2015. A monograph of *Otidea (Pyronemataceae, Pezizomycetes)*. Persoonia, 35: 166-229.
- Oskarsson, H., Sigurgeirsson, A., Raulund-Rasmussen, K. 2006. Survival, growth, and nutrition of tree seedlings fertilized at planting on Andisol soils in Iceland: six-year results. Forest Ecology and Management, 229(1): 88-97.
- Oxbrow, A., Moffatt, J. 1979. Plant frequency and distribution on high lead soil near Lead hills, Lanarkshire. Plant and Soil, 52: 127-130.
- Paul, E.A., Clark, F.E. 1989. Soil microbiology and biochemistry. SanDiego, CA: Academic Press, 30: 462-462.
- Pearson, V., Read, D.J. 1973. The biology of mycorrhiza in the Ericaceae. I. The isolation of the endophyte and synthesis of mycorrhizas in aseptic cultures. New Phytologist, 72: 371-379.
- Pearson, V., Read, D.J. 1973a. Biology of mycorrhiza in the Ericaceae II: transport of carbon and phosphorus by endophyte and mycorrhiza. New Phytologist, 72:1325-1331.
- Pearson, V., Read, D.J. 1973b. The biology of mycorrhiza in the Ericaceae: I. The isolation of the endophyte and synthesis of mycorrhizas in aseptic culture. New Phytologist, 72: 371-379.
- Pearson, V., Read, D.J. 1975. The physiology of the mycorrhizal endophyte *Calluna Vulgaris*. Transactions of the British Mycological Society, 64: 1-7.
- Perotto, S., Girlanda, M., Martino, E. 2002. Ericoid mycorrhizal fungi: some new perspectives on old acquaintances. Plant and Soil, 244: 41-53.
- Perotto, S., Martino, E., Abba, S., Vallino, M. 2012. 14 Genetic diversity and functional aspects of ericoid mycorrhizal fungi. In Fungal Associations: The Mycota IX, (Berlin: Springer-Verlag). 9: 255-285.
- Poss, I.A., Pond, E.C., Menge, J.A., Jarrell, W.M. 1985. Effect of salinity on mycorrhizal onion and tomato in soil with and without additional phosphate. Plant and Soil, 88: 307-319.
- Rasmuson, K.E., Anderson, J.E. 2002. Salinity affects development, growth, and photosynthesis in cheatgrass. Journal of Range Management, 55: 80-87.
- Read, D.J. 1974. *Pezizella ericae* sp. nov., the perfect state of a typical mycorrhizal endophyte of the Ericaceae. Transactions of the British Mycological Society, 63: 381-383.
- Read, D.J. 1983. The biology of mycorrhiza in the Ericales. Canadian Journal of Botany, 61:985-1004.
- Read, D.J. 1984. Interactions between ericaceous plants and their competitors with special reference to soil toxicity. In: Weed control and vegetation management in forests and amenity areas. Association of Applied Biologists, 5: 195-209.
- Read, D.J. 1996. The structure and function of the ericoid mycorrhizal root. Annals of Botany, 77: 365-374.
- Read, D.J., Kerley, S.J. 1995. The status and function of ericoid mycorrhizal systems. In: Hock B, Varma A (eds.). Mycorrhiza, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag, 499-520.

- Read, D.J., Leake, J.L., Perez-Moreno, J. 2004. Mycorrhizal fungi as drivers of ecosystem processes in heathland and boreal forest biomes. Canadian Journal of Botany, 82: 1243-1263.
- Read, D.J., Leake, J.R., Langdale, A.R. 1989. The nitrogen nutrition of mycorrhizal fungi and their host plants. In: Boddy LL, Marchant R, Read DJ (eds), Nitrogen, Phosphorus and Sulphur Utilization by Fungi. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 181-204.
- Read, D.J., Stribley, D.P. 1973. Effect of mycorrhizal infection on nitrogen and phosphorus nutrition of ericaceous plants. Nature (London), New Biology, 244: 81-82.
- Reed, M.L. 1989. Ericoid mycorrhizas of Styphelidae: Intensity of infection and nutrition of the symbionts. Australian Journal of Plant Physiology, 16: 155-160.
- Renault, S., Croser, C., Franklin, J.A., Zwiazek, J.J. 2001. Effects of NaCl and Na₂SO₄ on redosier dogwood (*Cornus stolonifera Michx*) seedlings. Plant and Soil, 233: 261-268.
- Requena, N., Perez-Solis, E., Azcón-Aguilar, C., Jeffries, P., Barea, J.M. 2001. Management of indigenous plant-microbe symbioses aids restoration of desertified ecosystems. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, pp: 495-498.
- Rice, A.V., Currah, R.S. 2006. *Oidiodendron maius*: saprobe in sphagnum peat, mutualist in ericaceous roots? Microbial Root Endophytes, pp: 227-246.
- Robuck, O.W. 1985. The common plants of the muskegs of southeast Alaska. Scientific Journal, 131 p.
- Rodriguez, R.J., White, J.F., Arnold, A.E., Redman, R.S. 2009. Fungal endophytes: diversity and functional roles. New Phytologist, 182: 314-330.
- Rosen, C.J., Allan, D.L., Luby, J.J. 1990. Nitrogen form and solution pH influence growth and nutrition of two *Vaccinium* clones. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science, 115: 83-89.
- Rosendahl, C.N., Rosendahl, S. 1991. Influence of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (*Glomus* spp.) on the response of cucumber (*Cucumis sativus* L.) to salt stress. Environmental and Experimental Botany, 31: 313-318.
- Ross, D.J., Cairns, A. 1981. Nitrogen availability and microbial biomass in stockpiled topsoils in Southland. New Zealand Journal of Science, 24: 137-143.
- Rowe, J.S. 1972. Forest regions of Canada. Fisheries and Environment Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Headquarters, Ottawa, 172 p.
- Rowland, S.M. 2008. Recreating a functioning forest soil in reclaimed oil sands in northern Alberta, M.Sc. Thesis, Faculty of Forestry, University of British Columbia.
- Rowland, S.M., Prescott, C.E., Grayston, S.J., Quideau, S.A., Bradfield, G.E. 2009. Recreating a functioning forest soil in reclaimed oil sands in northern Alberta: an approach for measuring success in ecological restoration. Journal of Environment Quality, 38:1580-1590.

- Ruiz-Lozano, J.M. 2003. Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis and alleviation of osmotic stress: new perspectives for molecular studies. Mycorrhiza, 13: 309-317.
- Ruiz-Lozano, J.M., Azco'n, R. 2000. Symbiotic efficiency and infectivity of an autochthonous arbuscular mycorrhizal *Glomus sp* from saline soils and *Glomus deserticola* under salinity. Mycorrhiza, 10: 137-143.
- Saghai-Maroof, M.A., Soliman, K.M., Jorgensen, R.A., Allard, R.W. 1984. Ribosomal DNA spacer-length polymorphism in barley: mendelian inheritance, chromosomal location, and population dynamics. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 81: 8014-8019.
- Sannazzaro, A.I., Ruiz, O.A., Albetro', E.O., Menendez, A.B. 2006. Alleviation of salt stress in *Lotus glaber by Glomus intraradies*. Plant and Soil, 285: 279-287.
- Scagel, C.F. 2002. Mycorrhizal status of sand-based cranberry (*vaccinium macrocarpon*) bogs in southern Oregon. Small Fruits Review, 2(1): 31-41.
- Scagel, C.F. 2005. Inoculation with ericoid mycorrhizal fungi alter fertilizer use of highbush blueberry cultivars. Horticultural Science, 40(3): 786-794.
- Scagel, C.F., Wagner, A., Winiarski, P. 2005b. Inoculation with ericoid mycorrhizal fungi alters root colonization and growth in nursery production of blueberry plants from tissue culture and cuttings. Small Fruits Review, 4: 113-135.
- Scagel, C.F., Yang, W. 2006. Cultural variation and mycorrhizal status of blueberry plants in Oregon commercial production fields. International Journal of Fruit Science, 5(2): 85-111.
- Schuler, R., Haselwandter, K. 1988. Hydroxamate siderophore production by ericoid mycorrhizal fungi. Journal of Plant Nutrition, 11: 907-913.
- Selosse, M.A., Dubois, M.P., Alvarez, N. 2009. Do *Sebacinales* commonly associate with plant roots as endophytes? Mycological Research, 113: 1062-1069.
- Selosse, M.A., Setaro, S., Glatard, F., Richard, F., Urcelay, C., Weiss, M. 2007. *Sebacinales* are common mycorrhizal associates of Ericaceae. New Phytologist, 174(4): 864-78.
- Sestak, Z., Catský, J., Jarvis, P.G. 1971. Plant photosynthetic production: Manual of Methods. Dr. W. Junk Publishers, The Hague.
- Selvakumar, G., Panneerselvam, P., Ganeshamurthy, A.N. 2012. Bacterial mediated alleviation of abiotic stress in crops. pp: 205-224. In Maheshwari DK, Bacteria in Agrobiology: Stress Management. Berlin, Germany: Springer.
- Setaro, S., Suárez, J.P., Herrera, P., Cruz, D., Kottke, I. 2013. Distinct but closely related Sebacinales form mycorrhizae with coexisting Ericaceae and Orchidaceae in a Neotropical mountain area. In: Varma A, Kost G, Oelmüller R (eds) Piriformospora indica: Sebacinales and their biotechnological applications. Soil biology, vol. 33. Springer, Berlin, pp 81-105.

- Sharples, J.M., Chambers, S.M., Meharg, A.A., Cairney, J.W.G. 2000a. Genetic diversity of rootassociated fungal endophytes from *Calluna vulgaris* at contrasting field sites. New Phytologist, 148: 153-162.
- Sharples, J.M., Meharg, A.A., Chambers, S.M., Cairney, J.W.G, 2000b. Symbiotic solution to arsenic contamination. Nature, 404: 951-952.
- Sharples, J.M., Meharg, A.A., Chambers, S.M., Cairney, J.W.G. 2001. Arsenate resistance in the ericoid mycorrhizal fungus *Hymenoscyphus ericae*. New Phytologist, 151: 265-270.
- Shaw, G., Leake, J.R., Baker, A.J.M., Read, D.J. 1990. The biology of mycorrhiza in the Ericaceae. XVII. The role of mycorrhizal infection in the regulation of iron uptake by ericaceous plants. New Phytologist, 115: 251-258.
- Shaw, G., Read, D.J. 1989. The biology of mycorrhiza in the Ericaceae. XIV. Effects of iron and aluminium on the activity of acid phosphatase in the ericoid endophyte *Hymenoscyphus ericae* (Read) Korf and Kernan. New Phytologist, 113: 529-533.
- Sheng, M., Tang, M., Chan, H., Yang, B., Zhang, F., Huang, Y. 2008. Influence of arbuscular mycorrhizae on photosynthesis and water status of maize plants under salt stress. Mycorrhiza, 18: 287-296.
- Shrivastava, P., Kumar, R. 2015. Soil salinity: A serious environmental issue and plant growth promoting bacteria as one of the tools for its alleviation. Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences, 22: 123-131.
- Shubat, D.J. 1983. Management of native lowbush blueberry for recreational picking in northeastern Minnesota. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, 79 p. Thesis.
- Smith, D.W. 1962. Ecological studies of *Vaccinium* species in Alberta. Canadian Journal of Plant Science, 42: 82-90.
- Smith, D.W. 1966. Studies in the taxonomy and ecology of blueberries (*Vaccinium, subgenus Cyanococcus*) in Ontario. Toronto, ON: University of Toronto, 276 p. Dissertation.
- Smith, J.D. 1993. Uptake and utilization of nitrogen sources by cranberry plants (Vaccinium macrocarpon, Ait.). Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin.
- Smith, S.E., Read, D.J. 2008. Mycorrhizal Symbiosis. Academic Press, New York.
- Smith, S.M., Read, D.J. 1997. Mycorrhizal symbiosis, 2nd edition, Academic, London.
- Sokolovski, S.G., Meharg, A.A., Haathuis, F.J.M. 2002. *Calluna vulgaris* root cells show increased capacity for amino acid uptake when colonized with the mycorrhizal fungus *Hymenoscyphus ericae*. New Phytologist, 155: 525-530.
- Steudle, E., Peterson, C. 1998. Review article. How does water get through roots? Journal of Experimental Botany, 49: 775-788.
- Stewart, G.R., Pate, J.S., Unkovich, M.J. 1993. Characteristics of inorganic nitrogen assimilation of plants of fire prone Mediterranean type vegetation. Plant Cell and Environment, 16: 351-363.
- Stevens, P.F., Luteyn, J., Oliver, E.L., Bell, T.L., Brown, E.A., Crowden, R.K., George, A.S., Jordan, G.J., Ladd, P., Lemson, K., Mclean, C.B., Menadue, Y., Pate, J.S., Stace, H.M., Weiller, C. M. 2004. Ericaceae. Flowering Plants. Dicotyledons, pp:145-194.
- Straker, C.J. 1996. Ericoid mycorrhiza: ecological and host specificity. Mycorrhiza, 6: 215-225.
- Straker, C.J., Mitchell, D.T. 1986. The activity and characterization of acid phosphatases in endomycorrhizal fungi of the Ericaceae. New Phytologist, 104: 243-256.
- Stribley, D.P., Read, D.J. 1974. The biology of mycorrhiza in the Ericaceae. IV. The effect of mycorrhizal infection on uptake of 15N from labeled soil by *Vaccinium macrocarpon* Ait. New Phytologist, 73: 1149-1155.
- Stribley, D.P., Read, D.J. 1980. The biology of mycorrhiza in the Ericaceae. VII. The relationship between mycorrhizal infection and the capacity to utilize simple and complex organic nitrogen sources. New Phytologist, 86: 365-371.
- Stribley, D.P., Read, D.J., Hunt, R. 1975. The biology of mycorrhiza in the Ericaceae. V. The effects of mycorrhizal infection, soil type and partial soil sterilization (by gamma-irradiation) on growth of cranberry (*Vaccinium macrocarpon Ait.*). New Phytologist, 75:1-19.
- Strohmayer, P. 1999. Soil stockpiling for reclamation and restoration activities after mining and construction. Restoration and reclamation review. Student On-line Journal, Volume 7.
- Strong, W.L., LaRoi, G.H. 1986. A strategy for concurrently monitoring the plant water potentials of spatially separate forest ecosystems. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 16(2): 346-351.
- Trouvelot, A., Kough, J., Gianinazzi-Pearson, V. 1986. Evaluation of VA infection levels in root systems. Research for estimation methods having a functional significance. In: Gianinazzi-Pearson V, Gianinazzi S (eds.), Physiological and Genetical Aspects of Mycorrhizae. INRA Press, Paris, France, pp: 217-221.
- Turnau, K., Kottke, I., Dexheimer, J. 1996b. Toxic element filtering in *Rhizopogon roseolus/Pinus* sylvestris mycorrhizas collected from calamine dumps. Mycological Research, 100 :16-22.
- Uttal, L.J. 1987. The Genus Vaccinium L. (Ericaceae) in Virginia. Castanea, 52(4): 231-255.
- Vafadar, F., Amooaghaie, R., Otroshy, M. 2014. Effects of plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus on plant growth, stevioside, NPK, and chlorophyll content of *Stevia rebaudiana*. Journal of Plant Interactions, 9(1): 128-136.
- Valenzuela-Estrada, L.R., Vera-Caracalla, V., Ruch, L.E., Eissenstat, D.M. 2008. Root anatomy, morphology, and longevity among root orders in *Vaccinium corymbosum* (Ericaceae). American Journal of Botany, 95: 1506-1514.
- Van der Heijden, M.G.A., Bardgett, R.D., Van Straalen, N.M. 2008. The unseen majority: soil microbes as drivers of plant diversity and productivity in terrestrial ecosystems. Ecology Letters, 11: 296-310.

- Vander Kloet, S.P. 1988. The genus *Vaccinium* in North America. Publication 1828. Ottawa: Research Branch, Agriculture Canada, 201 p.
- Vander Kloet, S.P., Hall, I.V. 1981. The biological flora of Canada. 2. *Vaccinium myrtilloides Michx.*, velvet-leaf blueberry. Canadian Field Naturalist, 95: 329-345.
- Vohník, M., Pánek, M., Fehrer, J., Selosse, M.A. 2016. Experimental evidence of ericoid mycorrhizal potential within *Serendipitaceae* (Sebacinales). Mycorrhiza, 26: 831-846.
- Walker, J.F., Aldrich-Wolfe, L., Riffel, A. 2011. Diverse *Helotiales* associated with the roots of three species of Arctic Ericaceae provide no evidence for host specificity. New Phytologist, 191: 515-527.
- Walker, J.F., Johnson, N.B., Simpson, L.C., Bill, M., Jumpponen, A. 2010. Application of fungi statics in soil reduces N uptake by an arctic ericoid shrub (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*). Mycologia, 102: 822-834.
- Weiss, M., Sýkorová, Z., Garnica, S., Riess, K., Martos, F., Krause, C., Oberwinkler, F., Bauer, R., Redecker, D. 2011. *Sebacinales* everywhere: previously overlooked ubiquitous fungal endophytes. PLoS One, Volume 6(2).
- White, T.J., Bruns, T., Lee, S., Taylor, J. 1990. Amplification and direct sequencing of fungal ribosomal RNA genes for phylogenetics. In: Innis MA, Gelfand DH, Shinsky JJ, White TJ, (eds), PCR Protocols: a guide to methods and applications. San Diego, CA, USA: Academic Press, 315-322.
- Wick, A.F., Stahl, P.D., Ingram, L.J., Vicklund, L. 2008. Soil aggregate and aggregate associated carbon recovery in short term stockpiles. Proceedings America Society of Mining and Reclamation, pp:1389-1412.
- Wilson, D. 1995. Endophyte: the evolution of a term, and clarification of its use and definition. Oikos, 73: 274-276.
- Wu, Q.S., Xia, R.X. 2006. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi influence growth, osmotic adjustment and photosynthesis of citrus under well-watered and water stress conditions. Journal of Plant Physiology, 163: 417-425.
- Wu, Q.S., Zou, Y.N., Liu, W., Ye, X.F., Zai, H.F., Zhao, L.J. 2010. Alleviation of salt stress in citrus seedlings inoculated with mycorrhiza: changes in leaf antioxidant defense systems. Plant, Soil and Environment, 56(10): 470-475.
- Wu, Y.Y., Chen, Q.J., Chen, M., Chen, J., Wang, X.C. 2005. Salt-tolerant transgenic perennial ryegrass (*Lolium perenne* L.) obtained by *Agrobacterium tumefasciens*-mediated transformation of the vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter gene. Plant Science, 169: 65-73.
- Wurzburger, N., Higgins, B.P., Hendrick, R.L. 2011. Ericoid mycorrhizal root fungi and their multicopper oxidases from a temperate forest shrub. Ecology and Evolution, 2: 65-79.
- Xiao, G., Berch, S.M. 1992. Ericoid mycorrhizal fungi of *Gaultheria shallon*. Mycologia, 84: 470-471.

- Xie, X., Zhang, H., Pare, P. 2009. Sustained growth promotion in Arabidopsis with long-term exposure to the beneficial soil bacterium *Bacillus subtilis* (GB03). Plant Signaling and Behavior, 4: 948-953.
- Yang, W.Q., Goulart, B.L., Demchak, K., Li, Y.D. 2002. Interactive effects of mycorrhizal inoculation and organic soil amendments on nitrogen acquisition and growth of highbush blueberry. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science, 127: 742-748.
- Yarmuch, M. 2003. Measurement of soil physical parameters to evaluate soil structure quality in reclaimed oil sands oils, Alberta, Canada, M.Sc. Thesis. Department of Renewable Resources, University of Alberta.
- Yeo, A.R., Kramer, D., Lauchli, A., Gullasch, J. 1977. Ion distribution in salt stressed mature Zea mays roots in relation to ultrastructure and retention of sodium. Journal of Experimental Botany, 28: 17-29.
- Yin, L., Zhang, C., Yang, B. 2010. Characteristics of nitrogen absorbed by ericoid mycorrhizal fungi and impact on growth of *Rhododendron fortunei*. Journal of Scientific Agriculture, 43: 868-872.
- Zhu, H., Guo, D., Dancik, B.P. 1990. Purification and characterization of an extracellular acid proteinase from the ectomycorrhizal fungus *Hebeloma crustuliniforme*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 56: 837-843.
- Zuccarini, P. 2007. Mycorrhizal infection ameliorates chlorophyll content and nutrient uptake of lettuce exposed to saline irrigation. Plant, Soil and Environment, 53: 283-289.

Chapter 4

Appendix

Table 5.1. ANOVA table showing the effect of different soil types on root dry weight, shoot dry

· 1 / 1	1 4 4 1	· 1 / C	11 1	т 1 1	T 1	1' 1
weight and	shoot root ary	weight for	hlueherry	Labrador	Lea and	lingonherry
worgin and	Shoot ury	worgint ior	Ulucucity,	Laurador	I ca ana	migomoon y.
0	2	0				

	Root dry v	veight	Shoot dry weight		Shoot:Root dry weight	
Blueberry	F=6.67	P=0.0050	F=10.98	P= 0.0004	F=4.60	P=0.0204
Labrador Tea	F=11.92	P=0.0003	F=16.03	P <.0001	F=1.37	P=0.2730
Lingonberry	F=3.85	P=0.0356	F=3.15	P=0.0612	F=3.27	P=0.0556

Table 5.2. ANOVA table showing the effect of different soil types on Total Chlorophyll, Chlorophyll-a and Chlorophyll-b concentration for blueberry, Labrador Tea and lingonberry.

	Total Chlo	orophyll	Chlorophyll-a		Chlorophyll-b	
Blueberry	F=3.23	P=0.0520	F=2.99	P= 0.0591	F=3.52	P=0.0458
Labrador Tea	F=0.47	P=0.6306	F=0.27	P=0.7623	F=2.61	P=0.0510
Lingonberry	F=1.01	P=0.3784	F=1.91	P=0.1698	F=0.64	P=0.5359

Table 5. 3. ANOVA table showing the effect of different soil types on Photosynthesis andTranspiration of blueberry, Labrador Tea and lingonberry.

	Photosynthesis		Transpiration	
Blueberry	F=0.31	P=0.7398	F=0.89	P= 0.4232
Labrador Tea	F=0.21	P=0.8093	F=0.05	P=0.9533
Lingonberry	F=2.61	P=0.0946	F=2.30	P=0.1217

Table 5.4. ANOVA table showing the effect of different soil types on Calcium (Ca), Potassium (K), Magnesium (Mg), Phosphorus (P), and Nitrogen (N) of blueberry, Labrador Tea and lingonberry.

	Ca	K	Mg	Р	N
Blueberry	F=4.36	F=0.36	F=2.80	F=6.58	F=40.03
	P=0.0243	P=0.7047	P=0.0806	P=0.0053	P<.0001
Labrador Tea	F=0.12	F=1.61	F=9.96	F=3.33	F=0.13
	P=0.8872	P=0.2212	P=0.0007	P=0.0530	P=0.8778
Lingonberry	F=4.59	F=0.17	F=7.58	F=2.85	F=1.43
	P=0.0205	P=0.8486	P=0.0028	P=0.0777	P=0.2593

Table 5. 5. ANOVA table for elemental concentrations : Calcium (Ca), Potassium (K), Magnesium (Mg), Phosphorus (P), Nitrogen (N), and Sodium (Na) in different soil types (Fresh Topsoil, Autoclaved One-Year Topsoil, and Non-Autoclaved One-Year Topsoil).

	Ca	K	Mg	Р	N	Na
Soil Types	F=14.91	F=10.29	F=11.77	F=6.92	F=2.39	F=12.27
	P=0.0006	P=0.0025	P=0.0015	P=0.0100	P=0.1335	P=0.0013

Table 5.6. ANOVA table for Photosynthesis and Transpiration and total chlorophyll of inoculated and non-inoculated blueberry, Labrador tea, and lingonberry under salt treatments (0 mM & 30 mM NaCl).

	Photosynthesis		Transpiration		Total Chlorophyll	
Blueberry	F=17.44	P<.0001	F=23.17	P<.0001	F=58.33	P<.0001
Labrador Tea	F=12.87	P<.0001	F=33.37	P<.0001	F=13.36	P<.0001
Lingonberry	F=9.47	P<.0001	F=9.88	P<.0001	F=122.40	P<.0001

Table 5.7. ANOVA table for Root dry weight, Shoot dry weight, Shoot:Root dry weight, and Total dry weight of inoculated and non-inoculated blueberry, Labrador tea, and lingonberry under salt treatments (0 mM & 30 mM NaCl).

	Root dry weight	Shoot dry weight	Shoot:Root dry weight	Total dry weight
Blueberry	F=2.93	F=3.39	F=0.54	F=4.15
	P=0.0333	P=0.0185	P=0.7447	P=0.0074
Labrador Tea	F=10.18	F=4.30	F=0.27	F=6.00
	P<.0001	P=0.0062	P=0.9260	P=0.0010
Lingonberry	F=70.51	F=8.60	F=0.39	F=10.05
	P<.0001	P<.0001	P=0.8534	P<.0001

Sequences of identified species:

>Cadophora finlandia

CTTGGTCATTTAGAGGAAGTAAAAGTCGTAACAAGGTTTCCGTAGGTGAACCTGCGG AAGGATCATTAAAGAACGCCCCGTTTTTTGAAATGGGTAATTCCCAAACCGT GTCTATATACCTTTGTTGCTTTGGCAGGTCGCCTTCTAGGAGGCGTCGGCTCC GGCTGACTGCGCCTGCCAGAGGACCCAAACTCGTTTTGTTTAGTGTCGTCTGA GTACTATATAATAGTTAAAACTTTCAACAACGGATCTCTTGGTTCTGGCATCG ATGAAGAACGCAGCGAAATGCGATAAGTAATGTGAATTGCAGAATTCAGTGA ATCATCGAATCTTTGAACGCACATTGCGCCCCTTGGTATTCCGAGGGGCATGC CTGTTCGAGCGTCATTATAACCACTCAAGTTTCGACTTGGTATTGGGGTTCGC GGTTTCGCGGCCCTTAAAATCAGTGGCGGTGCCGTCTGGCTCTAAGCGTAGTA ATTCTCTCGCTACAGAGTCTGGGTGGTTGCTTGCCAGAATCCCCCCCACTTTT ATAGGTTGACCTCGGATCAGGTAGGGATACCCGCTGAACTTAAGCATATCAA TAAGCGGAGGA

> Serendipita herbamans

CTTGGTCATTTAGAGGAAGTAAAAGTCGTAACAAGGTTTCCGTAGGTGAACCTGCGG AAGGATCATTAGTGAATCTTCAAAGTCGGCTCGTCGGATTGTGCTGGTGGAG ACACATGTGCACGTCTACGAGTCGCAAACCCACACACCTGTGCATCTATGAC TCTGAGTGCCGCCTTGCATGGCCCCTTGATTTGGGCCTGGCGCTCGAGTACTT TCACACACTCTCGAATGTAATGGAATGTCTTGTTGTGCATAACGTACAAACAG AAACAACTTTCAACAATGGATCTCTTGGCTCTCGCATCGATGAAGAACGCAG CGAAATGCGATAAGTAATGTGAATTGCAGAATTCAGTGAATCATCGAATCTT TGAACGCACCTTGCACCCTTTGGTATTCCGAAGGGTACGCCCGTTTGAGTGTC ATTGTAATCTCACTACGATCGACTTTTGTCTTTCAGTATGTGGACTTGGATGTT GCCGTGAATAAACAAACGGCTCGTCTGAAATGCCTGAGTGTACCCCGCTTTG CGGCGTATTCGGTGTGATAAATCTTCACCGGAGTTGATCCCTTTATGGGGTCG CGTCTGTAATGGTGTGGCTCTATGCTTCAAACCGTCTTCTATCGAGACAAACC TCTTGACAATTTGACCTCAAATCGGGTGGGACTACCCGCTGAACTTAAGCATA TCAATAAGCGGAGGA

> Leohumicola verrucosa

CTTGGTCATTTAGAGGAAGTAAAAGTCGTAACAAGGTTTCCGTAGGTGAACCTGCGG AAGGATCATTACAGAGTTCATGCCCTCACGGGTAGATCTCCCACCCTTGAATA CTATACCTTTGTTGCTTTGGCGGGCCGCTTTGGCTACTGGCTCCGGCTGGTGA GTGCCCGCCAAAGAATCCCAAAACTCTGAATATTTGTGTCGTCTGAGTACTAT ATAATAGTTAAAACTTTCAACAACGGATCTCTTGGTTCTGGCATCGATGAAGA ACGCAGCGAAATGCGATAAGTAATGTGAATTGCAGAATTCAGTGAATCATCG AATCTTTGAACGCACATTGCGCCCCTTGGTATTCCGAGGGGCATGCCCGTTCG AGCGTCATTATAACCCCTCAAGCCCAGCTTGGTGTTGGGGGCCTGCTGTTACCG GCAGCCCTTAAAATTAGTGGCGGTGCCATCTGGCTCTAAGCGTAGTAATACTT CTCGCTACAGGGTCCTGGTGGGATGCTTGCCATCAACTCCTAAATTTCTATGGT TGACCTCGGATCGGGTAGGATACCCGCTGAACTTAAGCATATCAATAAGCG GAGGA >Pezoloma ericae

CGATTGGGCCNTCTAGATGCATGCTCGAGCGGCCGCCAGTGTGATGGATATCTGCAG AATTCGCCCTTCTTGGTCATTTAGAGGAAGTAAAAGTCGTAACAAGGTTTCCG TAGGTGAACCTGCGGAAGGATCATTAAAGAATGCCCCGTTTTTTGAAATGGG TTCTATTCCCAAACCGTGTATACATACCTTTGTTGCTTTGGCAGGCCGCCTTCG GGCGTCGGCTCACGCTGACCGCGCCTGCCAGAGGACCCAAACTCGTTTATTT AGTGATGTCTGAGTACTATATAATAGTTAAAAACTTTCAACAACGGATCTCTTG GTTCTGGCATCGATGAAGAACGCAGCGAAATGCGATAAGTAATGTGAATTGC AGAATTCAGTGAATCATCGAATCTTTGAACGCACATTGCGCCCCTTGGTATTC CGAGGGGCATGCCTGTTCGAGCGTCATTATGACCACTCAAGCCTAGCTTGGT ATTGGGGTTCGCGGTCTCGCGGCCCTTAAAATCAGTGGCGGTGCCGTCTGGCT CCCCAACTTCTAAGGTTGACCTCGGATCAGGTAGGGATACCCGCTGAACTTA AGCATATCAATAAGCGGAGGAAAGGGCGAATTCCAGCACACTGGCGGCCGTT ACTAGTGGATCCGAGCTCGGTACCAAGCTTGGCGTAATCATGGTCATAGCTG TTTCCTGTGTGAAATTGTTATCCGCTCACAATTCCACACAACATACGAGCCGG AAGCATAAAGTGTAAAGCCTGGGGTGCCTAATGAGTGAGCTAACTCACATTA ATTGCGTTGCGCTCACTGCCCGCTTTCCAGTCGGGAAACCTGTCGNGNCAGCT GCATTAATGANTCGGNCAACGCGCGGGGGANAGGCGGTTTGCGTATTGNCGCT CTTCCGCTTCCTCGCTCACTGACTCGCTGCGCTCNGTCGTTCGGCTGCGGNGA GCGGNATCAGCTCACTCA

> Mycosymbioces mycenaphila

> Acephala applanata

ACTATTGTTGCTTTGGCGGGCCGTGGCCTCCACTGCGGGCTCTGCTCGTGTGT GCCCGCCAGAGAACCAAACTCTGAATGTTAGTGATGTCTGAGTACTATCTAA TAGTTAAAACTTTCAACAACGGATCTCTTGGTTCTGGCATCGATGAAGAACGC AGCGAAATGCGATAAGTAATGTGAATTGCAGAATTCAGTGAATCATCGAATC TTTGAACGCACATTGCGCCCTGTGGTATTCCGCAGGGCATGCCTGTTCGAGCG TCATTTAACCACTCACGCCTAGCGTGGTATTGGGGGCACGCGGTCTCCGCGGCC CTCAAAATTAGTGGCGGCGCCGGTGGGCTCTAAGCGTAGTACATACTCCCGC TATAGAGTTCCCCCGGTGGCTCGCCAGAACCCCCAATTTTACAGGTTGACCT CGGATCAGGTAGGGATACCCGCTGAACTTAAGCATATCANTAAGCGGAGGAA AGGGCGAATTCCAGCACACTGGCGCGCCGTTACTAGTGGATCCNAGCTCGGTA CCAAGCTTGGCGTAATCATGGNNNNNNNTTTTTTTNNNNN

>Acremonium dichromosporum

NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNGNNNNNTAGATGCATGCTCGAGCGGCCGCCA GTGTGATGGATATCTGCAGAATTCGCCCTTCTTGGTCATTTAGAGGAAGTAAA AGTCGTAACAAGGTCTCCGTTGGTGAACCAGCGGAGGGATCATTACTGAGTT ATCCAACTCCCAAACCCCTGTGAACATACCTATGTTGCTTCGGCGGACCGTCC AACTCTTGTTTTCTAGTGTCTCCTCTGAGTGGCATAAGCAAAAATAAACAAAA CTTTCAGCAACGGATCTCTTGGTTCTGGCATCGATGAAGAACGCAGCGAAAT GCGATAAGTAATGTGAATTGCAGAATTCAGTGAATCATCGAATCTTTGAACG CACATTGCGCCCGCCAGTATTCTGGCGGGCATGCCTGTCTGAGCGTCATTTCA ACCCTCAGCCCCGTTCGCGGGGGGGCGCTGGCGTTGGGGGCCCGGCCGTCCTCGC GGCGGCCGTCCCCGAAACACAGTGGCGGTCTCCCACAGACTCCCCTGCGTAG TAACACTACCTCGCAGAAGGGACGAGCGGGGCTGGCCACGCCGTAAAACACC CCACTTCTCAAGGTTGACCTCAGATCANGTAGGAATACCCGCTGAACTTAAG CATATCANTAAGCGGAGGAAAGGGCGAATTCCAGCACACTGGCGNNCGTTAC TAGTGGATCCNAGCTCGGTACCNAGCTTGGCGTNATCNTGNNNNNNNTTTT **TTNNCNNNN**

> Micarea soralifera

> Clavaria citrinorubra

NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNTCTAGATGCATGCTCGAGCGGCCGCC AGTGTGATGGATATCTGCAGAATTCGCCCTTTCCTCCGCTTATTGATATGCTT AAGTTCAGCGGGTAGTCCTACCTGATTTGAGGTCGATCAATAAAATTTTGTTG CCTTGAGAGACAGTCCATAGACAGTTTGAAGCTAAGCACAAAGAGGAAAAC CCAGCGACAGCATAGATAACTTCTTATCAAACTGAAGCCAGTCCCAACACTG CTCTGCTAATACATTTAAAAGGAGCTGACAAGTTGTTTGCGCCAGCAAAACC ACTCAAACAGGCATACCCTCTGGATTGCCAGAGGGTGCAAGGTGCGTTCAAA GATTCGATGATTCACTGAATTCTGCAATTCACATTACATATCGCAATTCGCTG CGTTCTTCATCGATGCGAGAACCAAGAGATCCATTGTTGAAAGTTGTATTAAA TTTCAGCTTTTAAAAGCTTACTATAAAATCATTCTAACATGCTGTTGGTGTTTG ATAAAACATAGGCNAATGAGATTGTATAGATTGCTCTATGAACCTCTGTTTGC CTACTGGAGTGTGCACAATGGGGTAAGAGAANGAGATTTTGCAGAGTGCACA TGCNAACCTATGAAGGANTGNCAGCACATCTTTAAATCNATAATGATCCTTC CGCANGTTCACCTACNGAAACCTTGTTACGACTTTTACTTCCTCTAAATGACC AANAAGGNCGAATTCCAGCACACTGGCGGCCGTTACTANTGGATCCNANCTC GGTACCNAGCTTGGCGTANCNNNNNNNTTTTNNNNNNGGGGGGNNNNN

> Xenopolyscytalum pinea

NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNGNNGCCCTCTAGATGCATGCTCGAGCGGCCGC CAGTGTGATGGATATCTGCAGAATTCGCCCTTTCCTCCGCTTATTGATATGCT TAAGTTCAGCGGGTATCCCTACCTGATCCGAGGTCAAACTTAGAAAGTTGGG GGTTGCTGGCCAGCGTCCACCGGGTCCCTGTAGCGAGGAGTATTACTACGCTT AGGGCCCGAGAGGCGCCGCCACTGATTTTAAGGCCCGCCGTCTCCGGCGAGG CCCAAGACCAAGCTAGGCTTGAGTGTTGTACTGACGCTCGAACAGGCATGCC CTGCGGAATACCACAGGGCGCAATGTGCGTTCAAAGATTCGATGATTCACTG AATTCTGCAATTCACATTACTTATCGCATTTCGCTGCGTTCTTCATCGATGCCA GAACCAAGAGATCCGTTGTTGAAAGTTTTAACTATTATATAGTACTCAGACG ACATGTATAAACAGAATTTAGGGTCCTCTGGCGAGCACTCACCAGCGAGAAG CCGGTGGCCGGAGCGGCTCGCCNAAGCAACAAAGGTATAATTAACATAGGGT TGGAGAGTCACCCTCGCGGGCGATGTTCTCTGTAATGATCCCTCCGCAGGTTC ACCTACNGAGANCTTGTTACGACTTTTACTTCCTCTAAATGACCAAGAAGGC GAATTCCAGCACACTGGCGGCCGTTACTAGTGGATCCGAGCTCGGTACCAAG CTTGGCGTANTCATGGNNNNNNNNTTTTNNNNNNNN